

Cramer Fish Sciences 600 NW Fariss Road Gresham, OR 97030 503-491-9577 www.fishsciences.net

STANISLAUS RIVER JUVENILE CHINOOK SALMON SURVIVAL STUDY



Prepared for: United States Fish and Wildlife Service

Anadromous Fish Restoration Program

Prepared by:

Steven Zeug, Kirsten Sellheim, Jenny Melgo, and Joseph Merz

July 2016

Population Recovery and Conservation • Habitat Restoration • Water Use and Hydropower • Forests and Fish

TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Figures	iii
List of Tables	iv
Executive Summary	1
Introduction	
Methods	
Study area	
Study design	
Fish Surgery and Transmitter Implantation	
Tag Life Validation	
Temperature and streamflow	
Deep pool habitat	
Mobile Telemetry	
Movement Patterns	
Data Management, Spatial and Statistical Analyses	
Mobile Telemetry Data	
Stationary Receiver Data	
Tag effects	
Data analysis	
Results	
2012 releases	
2013 releases	
2014 releases	
Survival from stationary detections	
Survival from mobile detections	
Travel time	
Stationary detections	
Mobile detections	
Spatial analyses	
Tag Retention and Survival	
Behavioral Tag Effects	

Tag Effects on Growth and Post-Recovery Condition	. 46
Discussion	. 47
Acknowledgments	. 52
References cited	. 52

List of Figures

Figure 1. Map of the Stanislaus River within California and the study area in the Lower
Stanislaus River
Figure 2. Schematic of three reaches within the study area and potential areas of high salmon mortality
Figure 3. Schematic representation of the study area showing Reaches 1-3, Sub-reaches 1A-3B,
and receivers R1-R3.2
Figure 4. Conceptual diagram of a typical fixed receiver station and antenna array deployed on
an outside river meander
Figure 5. Comparison of the fork lengths of tagged fish (open squares) with natural-origin fish
captured in the Caswell screwtrap for each year of the study
Figure 6. Estimated survival and 95% confidence intervals in each reach from 2012-2014 27
Figure 7. Cumulative survival of tagged Chinook salmon that remained in the 50 km study reach
between each mobile survey period
Figure 8. Probability of Chinook salmon released in each sub-reach leaving the 50 km study
reach between each mobile survey period
Figure 9. Cumulative survival and 95% confidence intervals on the third day post release for
each release group in 2012, 2013, and 2014
Figure 10. Estimates of travel time (+/- SE) for early and late releases in the three 10km study
reaches calculated from stationary detections
Figure 11. Means and standard errors of travel times for each release group during early and late
releases
Figure 12. Results of the spatial auto correlation analysis (global Moran's I)
Figure 13. Map of last known detections for fish that never exited the study reach
Figure 14. Relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last known detections
in Reach 1
Figure 15. Relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last known detections
in Reach 2
Figure 16. Relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last known detections
in Reach 3
Figure 17. Map indicating the locations of three artificial structure types in the 50 km study reach
and significant clumping of both artificial structures and last known tag detections
Figure 18. The total number of observations of body position (pitch) for control and tagged fish
for 2013 (left) and 2014 (right)
Figure 19. The total number of observations of body position (pitch) for control and tagged fish
for 2013 (left) and 2014 (right).
Figure 20. Tagged fish (within black circle) displaying "head up. tail down" body orientation. 45
Figure 21. Fork length (left) and weight (right) in the tagged and control groups at the end of the
2013 study
Figure 22. Fork length-to-weight relationship for tagged (blue X) and control (grav circle) fish
47

List of Tables

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report describes the results of a three year mark-recapture experiment with juvenile (age 0) fall run Chinook salmon in the Lower Stanislaus River (LSR). Radio telemetry of hatchery juveniles was used to (1) estimate the survival of tagged juvenile Chinook salmon (FL size range 72-114 mm) in 50, 16, and 8 km increments in the LSR, (2) associate biotic and abiotic characteristics of the study reach with variation in survival of tagged juveniles including; flow, temperature, fish size and release timing, (3) identify areas of disproportionate mortality that could be targeted by management actions, and (4) associate mortality locations with specific habitat features (e.g. diversions, agricultural drains, irrigation pumps, assumed predator pools etc.). The study area extended from the Oakdale Recreational Area (\approx rkm 64.4) to Caswell Memorial State Park (\approx rkm14.8). The \approx 50 km reach was further divided into three \approx 16.5 km segments and six \approx 8 km sub-reaches. A total of 1,228 radio tagged salmon were released over all years. Each spring, two tagged salmon releases were performed where one release occurred early (typically in late March or early April) and one release occurred later in the migration period (usually late April or early May). Releases were performed at the upstream end of each of the six 8 km sub-reaches. Stationary receivers were deployed at the downstream end of each 16 km segment to detect fish as they moved through the study reach. Additionally, mobile surveys were performed at regular intervals after each release to gain additional information on specific locations of tagged salmon and movement over time within each sub-reach.

Survival was estimated both from detections at the stationary receivers and mobile detections in separate statistical models. This was done to take advantage of the strengths and limit the biases associated with each method. Survival from stationary detections was based on the length of stream traveled between release and receiver station (i.e. a function of distance traveled) whereas survival from mobile detections was based on the time between surveys (i.e. survival was a function of time since release). Significant spatial variation in survival was detected in all years. However, the scale at which the differences occurred varied by the method of detection used. Survival in the 16 km reaches ranged from a low of 21% in Reach 2 to a high of 72% in Reach 1. This suggests that although survival was low in some reaches, there is potential for it to be increased significantly through rehabilitation activities. Survival estimated from mobile detections indicated significant variation in survival among 8 km sub-reaches in all years whereas survival from stationary detections yielded significant differences among sub-reaches only in the two most downstream sub-reaches. Mobile detections suggested that over the first three days after release, survival per day ranged from a low of 0% to a high of 100%; again suggesting significant potential for improvement. Reach 1 never had a daily survival value less than 70% day⁻¹ supporting the finding that survival was greater in the most upstream reach in all years.

Estimated movement rates of juvenile salmon through the study reach varied considerably depending on the method of detection used. Stationary receivers yielded movement rates that ranged from a low of 18 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 2 to a high of 51 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 1. These estimates are similar to estimates for actively migrating Chinook salmon in other Central Valley rivers (Michel et al. 2013). Movement rates calculated from mobile data were considerably lower ranging from a low of 0.88 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 3 to a high of 9.2 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 1. The variation is likely the result of stationary receivers failing to pick up fish that were exhibiting

rearing or holding behavior and mobile surveys failing to detect fish that moved quickly out of the study reach between mobile surveys.

Analysis of survival as a function of biotic and abiotic characteristics followed an information theoretic approach where candidate models were constructed to represent different hypotheses related to influences on juvenile salmon survival in the LSR. Model selection of data from stationary receivers indicated that there was more variation among release years than there was in release timing (early vs. late), sub-reaches or along gradients of environmental variation (e.g., flow, temperature). Analysis of mobile detections indicated that many juvenile salmon exhibited holding/rearing behavior during some releases that likely biased stationary survival estimates because they remained alive but did not pass stationary receivers and thus appeared as mortalities in the stationary models. Survival analysis from the mobile detections indicated that the greatest mortality occurred in the first few days after release. Additionally, there was significant variation in survival among the 8 km sub-reaches (0-100% day⁻¹). Spatial analysis of last known detections relative to random point placement yielded significant clustering of last known detections close to the four release sites in the two most downstream experimental reaches. This confirmed indications from the mobile data that mortality often happens rapidly after release. This pattern was not found at the two release locations in the most upstream 16 km reach suggesting this was not purely a release effect but was also influenced by the quality of habitat into which the fish were released. Finally, a "hot spot" analysis of last known detections indicated that there were a disproportionate number of last known detections in the 8 km Subreach "2b", located between rkm 33-40. This reach generally had the lowest survival during most release events. Analysis of bed elevation data suggested that the location of last known detections were in significantly deeper areas than expected in the most downstream reach and the lower half of the middle reach. Deep habitats are known predator holding locations and the lower half of the study area appears to have a large proportion of these habitats. Combined, these data indicate that survival is lower in downstream reaches that have greater proportions of deep habitats. Sub-reach 2b in particular demonstrated low survival for juvenile Chinook salmon and should be targeted for future rehabilitation.

INTRODUCTION

The San Joaquin River system, located in California's Central Valley, once supported escapements of adult Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) numbering in the hundreds of thousands (Yoshiyama *et al.* 2001). These historic runs exhibited a rich ecological diversity, and Chinook salmon were present throughout the river system year-round due to broad variation in life history strategies and high diversity and abundance of available habitat. Chinook salmon are among several native Central Valley anadromous fish populations undergoing widespread decline (Moyle *et al.* 2008) with spring- and winter-run Chinook salmon listed under the Federal Endangered Species Act and fall- and late fall-run Chinook salmon currently considered as species of concern (NMFS 2004). Declines of Chinook salmon populations have been linked to a variety of anthropogenic impacts including overharvest and reduction of in river habitat quality and quantity caused by dams, gravel mining, water quality degradation due to urban development and agricultural runoff, and, introduction of non-native piscivorous fish (Nehlsen *et al.* 1991; Yoshiyama *et al.* 2001; Williams 2006).

Commercial harvest of salmon by European settlers became widespread starting in the 1850's, and marked declines were observed in some tributaries as early as the 1870's (Yoshiyama *et al.* 1998). In recognition of this decline, laws to protect salmon populations and prevent overfishing were passed during the late nineteenth and early twentieth century; however, these laws were not effectively enforced and illegal overharvesting was widespread for many decades (Yoshiyama *et al.* 1998). Hatchery supplementation has been widely implemented as a surrogate for declining wild salmon populations, but this only compounds the problem by compressing run timing and stock complexity and potentially reducing the survival of natural populations through density-dependent mechanisms (Augerot *et al.* 2005, Unwin 1997, Unwin and Glova 1997). Although spring-run Chinook salmon was historically the dominant race in the San Joaquin River and its tributaries, dam construction has prevented passage to critically important staging areas and spawning grounds. As a result, the spring-run life history is now largely considered extirpated from this region (Yoshiyama *et al.* 2001; Williams 2006), although small numbers have been observed in the lower Stanislaus River (LSR), a tributary to the San Joaquin River, in recent years (Anderson *et al.* 2007).

Dams have caused widespread degradation of river habitat worldwide by interrupting natural hydrological and sediment transport regimes and disrupting complex ecological processes that depend on flow fluctuations (Poff *et al.* 1997, Brown and Bauer 2010). Native fish populations are particularly impacted by flow regulation because they have life cycles adapted to seasonal flow fluctuations (Moyle *et al.* 2011). In California's Mediterranean climate, flow regulation generally results in a reduction in magnitude and duration of peak winter and spring runoff (Kondolf and Batalla 2005, Nilsson *et al.* 2005). This in turn decreases inundation frequency and duration of off-channel habitats that are important for juvenile salmonid rearing (Sommer *et al.* 2001, Jeffres *et al.* 2008) and low spring flows can increase juvenile residence time in the river and eliminate flow-related cues that trigger salmonid outmigration (Jager and Rose 2003). Several studies have observed positive association between flow and juvenile salmon migration through a given river reach (Brandes and McClain 2001, Perry *et al.* 2010, Zeug *et al.* 2014). Managing flows to more closely mimic natural conditions may provide a way to reduce the negative effects of flow regulation; however, insufficient data exists relating to juvenile salmonid survival, growth, migration timing, and the relative contribution of different life stages to provide

a basis for determining optimum flow timing and magnitude needed for out-migrating juvenile salmonids (Downs *et al.* 2011). Further, the relative contribution of specific sources of juvenile mortality and the distribution of mortality sources within the river system is not well understood (Kondolf *et al.* 2001).

In many Central Valley rivers, including the Stanislaus, historic gold and gravel mining greatly altered geomorphic and hydraulic conditions. As gold was retrieved from river sediments, discarded tailings were piled on floodplains (Clark 1970). These actions inverted in-channel gravel composition and disconnected side channels and floodplains, heavily impacting salmon spawning and rearing habitat (Kondolf 1997). Dredged channels and pits reduce flow turbulence and velocity; it has been hypothesized that this negatively affects juvenile salmonids by increasing travel times, providing favorable habitat for invasive predators, and reducing dissolved oxygen concentrations to harmful levels in the late spring and early fall when temperatures are high. Increased travel times for juvenile salmonids passing through areas with poor water quality and high predator concentrations in slow-flowing channels lacking cover may foster high rates of juvenile mortality.

Water temperature and dissolved oxygen conditions can become stressful for juvenile salmonids during outmigration in the late spring to early summer when air temperatures increase (Myrick and Cech 2004). Laboratory experiments have demonstrated that juvenile Chinook salmon exhibit decreased growth, impaired development, and increased vulnerability to predators at temperatures above 17°C (Marine and Cech 2004). Water quality has also been degraded in many Central Valley streams due to agricultural and urban runoff (Weston *et al.* 2004, Zhang *et al.* 2008, Ensminger *et al.* 2013). Weston *et al.* (2004) conducted a study of toxicity in river sediments throughout California's Central Valley and reported that pyrethroid pesticides were detected in 75% of the sites, with 14% of sites sampled showing extreme sediment toxicity in laboratory experiments. Zhang *et al.* (2008) identified the Stanislaus River as being particularly high-risk for water pollution from pesticide runoff compared with other San Joaquin River tributaries due to land use practices, precipitation, geomorphology, and soil type. However, it is unknown to what extent poor water quality caused by suboptimal temperature, dissolved oxygen, or agricultural and urban runoff impacts outmigrating salmonids.

Non-native piscivorous fish are highly abundant throughout California's Central Valley, and predation is believed to be a major contributor to juvenile salmonid mortality in this system (Lindley and Mohr 2003, Nobriga and Feyrer 2007, NMFS 2014). Striped bass *Morone saxatilis* were introduced in 1879 and are currently managed as a sport fishery (Mason 1882, Parks 1978). Other common piscivorous fish such as non-native black bass *Micropterus* spp. and native Sacramento pikeminnow *Ptychocheilus grandis* may also impact juvenile salmonid survival, especially in degraded channels. A positive relationship between piscivorous fish abundance and water depth is well documented in the scientific literature, and deep pools are known to facilitate predation (Power *et al.* 1985; Brown and Moyle 1991; Gelwick *et al.* 1997). Although shallow habitats may increase predation risk from avian and mammalian piscivores, it has been hypothesized that non-native fish are the dominant predators of juvenile salmonids in the lower Stanislaus River (Kondolf 1997). However, few studies to date have explicitly measured the density and distribution of piscivorous fish or the impact of predation relative to other factors on juvenile salmonid survival (but see Cavallo *et al.* 2012 and Sabal et al. 2016).

Historically, the lower Stanislaus River was a dynamic river system, characterized by depositional and scour features and a diversity of off-channel salmonid rearing habitat. Following extensive dam construction, the active channel became relatively static and entrenched due to the factors described above (Kondolf *et al.* 2001). Rotary screw trap data from the upstream and downstream sections of the outmigration corridor of the Stanislaus River shows a significant reduction in juvenile abundance in the downstream trap, suggesting that mortality is generally high as juvenile salmonids migrate downstream through the river system (Zeug *et al.* 2014). This study also identified several positive correlates with survival, including greater cumulative flow and higher variance in flow during the migration period.

The present study was designed to provide a scientifically robust assessment of juvenile Chinook salmon survival within the LSR migratory corridor over several seasonal (e.g., late winter versus spring), flow (e.g., high versus low), and population (e.g., migration timing, size) conditions. Four broad goals were addressed by this study including: (1) use radio telemetry technology to estimate reach-specific survival for two distinct size-classes of juvenile Chinook salmon in the LSR in 8, 16 and 50 km increments and determine whether there is spatial variation in survival along the 50 km study reach, (2) associate biotic and abiotic characteristics of reaches with greater suspected mortality to explore whether reach-specific differences in these characteristics contribute to differences in survival along the LSR migratory corridor, (3) use mobile telemetry surveys to identify the location of salmonid mortality during outmigration at the finest resolution possible (habitat unit scale) to identify problem areas that could be targeted for future management actions and (4) track experimental fish using mobile radio telemetry surveys and monitor their movement and behavior during their outmigration in relation to potential sources of mortality (e.g., deep water habitats, agricultural return drains, irrigation pumps, etc.). To address these four broad goals we directly tested the following null hypotheses:

H₀1: The survival of Chinook salmon juveniles does not differ among sub-reaches of the LSR.

H₀2: Survival is constant throughout the migration period.

H₀3 The spatial distribution of last known detections is random throughout the study reach.

H₀4: Survival estimates are not related to migration speed of juvenile Chinook salmon.

H₀5: Survival is not associated with identified biotic or abiotic characteristics.

Although estimation of survival probabilities and identification of areas exhibiting high juvenile mortality are the primary goals of this multi-year study, we also seek to describe other aspects of juvenile migration, including travel times and migration speeds, which will inform fisheries and flow management and habitat restoration efforts that aim to rehabilitate LSR salmonid populations.

METHODS

Study area

The Stanislaus River flows along the western slopes of the Sierra Nevada Mountains southwest into the San Joaquin River. It drains approximately 284,899 hectares and 40% of its basin is above snowline (Kondolf *et al.* 2001). The confluence of the Stanislaus and San Joaquin rivers is near the southern end of the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta in California's Central Valley (Figure 1). The lower Stanislaus River, heretofore referred to as the LSR, is a 95 km stretch of river available to anadromous salmonids between the first upstream barrier at Goodwin Dam (~91.4 meters above mean sea level) and the San Joaquin River confluence. For this study, the two rotary screwtraps (i.e., Oakdale, located at rkm 64.4; and Caswell, located at rkm 14.8) delineate the approximate upstream and downstream ends of the Stanislaus River outmigration corridor (Figure 2).

Using available literature specific to the Stanislaus River (e.g., Aceituno 1990; Demko *et al.* 1998; Kondolf *et al.* 2001) and information obtained from local experts, we separated the outmigration corridor into three reaches based on physical features that are meaningful to migrating juvenile salmonids and represent key landmarks that provide access and landmarks as reference points (Figure 2). Each reach is between 16.0-19.4 rkm in length. Reach 1 begins just downstream of the Hwy 120 bridge, and includes gravel ponds at the Oakdale Recreation Area and agricultural drains near Riverbank. Reach 2 begins at McHenry Bridge and includes several areas with deep water habitat and at least one agricultural drain. Reach 3 begins several km above the Hwy 99 Bridge and ends just above the Caswell rotary screw trap (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Map of the Stanislaus River within California and the study area in the Lower Stanislaus River. The lower panel shows release locations, stationary receiver locations, diversion outflows, and bridges. Reaches are designated by contrasting light and dark colors.



Figure 2. Schematic of three reaches within the study area and potential areas of high salmon mortality.

Study design

During spring 2012-2014, Cramer Fish Sciences implemented a mark-recapture experiment to estimate survival of radio-tagged fall run Chinook salmon juveniles emigrating through the LSR between the Oakdale and Caswell rotary screw traps (RSTs). There were two release events per year, and within each release event groups of tagged fish were released approximately every 8 km (8.0 - 9.7 rkm) along the 50-km study reach, creating six sub-reaches (Figure 3; Table 1). To correspond with natural periods of juvenile activity, reduce the effects of predation during the initial release into the river, and allow for mixing of release groups during outmigration (Demko *et al.* 1998), the fish were released at night at approximately 2.5 hour intervals starting at the upstream site (1a) at 18:00 and ending at the downstream site (3b) at 06:00 the following morning. Each year, the two experimental releases took place under variable flow conditions, respectively (Table 1). This release design allowed for survival estimates to be derived at multiple scales (i.e., 50, 16, and 8 km) under varying conditions. Mobile telemetry surveys were performed for several days following release events to track the movement and behavior of juveniles between fixed receivers (e.g., directional movement and habitat characteristics at observation locations).

		Average	Temperature in °C (±1 SD)			Dissolved
Year	Release dates	streamflow in m ³ ·s ⁻¹ (range) ^{1,2}	Riverbank (rkm 47.6)	Stoddard Road (rkm 32.7)	Caswell (rkm 14.8)	oxygen in mg·l ⁻¹ (±1 SD) _{2,3}
2012	April 10-11	44.8 (39.7 - 53.8)	13 ± 0.8	13 ± 0.9	14 ± 1.6	10.1 ± 0.6
	May 3-4	43.5 (42.9 - 44.6)	14 ± 0.5	14 ± 0.5	14 ± 0.9	10.4 ± 0.4
2013	March 26-27	11.7 (9.0 - 20.8)	15 ± 1.2	17 ± 1.4	17 ± 1.1	9.2 ± 0.4
	April 23-24	76.7 (53.3 - 82.8)	13 ± 0.7	14 ± 0.5	14 ± 0.8	10.0 ± 0.4
2014	April 18-19	65.2 (61.0 - 70.4)	13 ± 0.5	14 ± 0.4	14 ± 0.5	9.6±0.3
	May 1-2	53.1 (14.2 - 68.1)	15 ± 1.1	14 ± 0.9	15 ± 1.4	9.2 ± 0.6

Table 1. Release group dates, times, flows, locations, and number of fish across the three study years.

¹USGS stream gage at Ripon (11303000)

² Includes beginning of release through the tracking period, 21 days following release.

³ Dissolved oxygen recorded daily at Caswell rotary screw trap (rkm 13.8).

Fixed Receiver Station Design and Configuration

Lotek SRX-series datalogging radio receivers (Lotek Wireless, Newmarket, Ontario, Canada) were deployed so each station demarcated the downstream boundary of each 16 km reach (Figure 3). We used SRX-400a receivers for the two upstream stations (R1 and R2) located at the bottom of sub-reaches 1b and 2b, respectively. We used an SRX-600 receiver for the downstream station located at the bottom of Sub-reach 3b (R3.1 and R3.2).



Figure 3. Schematic representation of the study area showing Reaches 1-3, Sub-reaches 1A-3B, and receivers R1-R3.2. Paired releases are made above each sub-reach and survival is assessed by detections at fixed receivers. Flow follows the direction of arrows. Stars represent the relative location of fixed radio receivers. Note: R3.1 and R3.2 represent the two antenna arrays at the Caswell fixed receiver station.

Each fixed station was comprised of a receiver connected to four four-element Yagi antennas (i.e., two oriented upstream and two downstream in an alternating pattern). The downstream-most antenna was labeled A1 and adjacent antennas were spaced from 10–25 m apart depending on local conditions and lines of sight. Antenna arrays were positioned on outside river meanders

with an alternating antenna orientation between downstream (A1 and A3) and upstream (A2 and A4) to better differentiate directional movements (Figure 4). Outside meanders also had elevated cut-banks helping to improve antenna reception; however, encroaching vegetation created some shadows, or interference, which affected the detection radius of those antennas. Antenna bearings were such that the detection trajectory was angled toward the opposite bank to minimize passage windows, or areas where the detection range does not encompass the entire channel cross-section.



Figure 4. Conceptual diagram of a typical fixed receiver station and antenna array deployed on an outside river meander. Note orientation of antennas (A1–A4) and projected trajectories (dashed grey arrows). Not to scale.

The radio tags were programmed with an individual tag code and set to one of two different frequencies (149.320 and 150.380), and receivers scanned one frequency at a time for a period of 6.5 sec to fully encompass the transmitter pulse rate of 5.0–5.3 sec while not scanning so long that detections on the other frequency could be missed. Receivers were configured to an all-antenna master scan setting and switched between frequencies for a total scan period of 13.0 sec. When a transmission was decoded on the all-antenna master, the receiver switched to antenna A1 and began cycling through both frequencies before switching to the next antenna in the series. Antennas switched sequentially from A1 through A4, performing a sweep in the upstream direction. Since we presume our tagged fish move in a downstream direction, scanning with the downstream-most antenna first generally ensured that transmissions would be received before the transmitter was beyond detection range and outside the array. Once all antennas were scanned for both frequencies (total scan period: 52.0 sec), the receiver automatically switched back to the all-antenna master scan setting and reset the cycle. This design served to increase detection probabilities and determine directional movement.

Fish Surgery and Transmitter Implantation

Handling protocols were standardized across all experimental groups to reduce potential bias (i.e., fish length, number of times handled, tagging procedures, transport methods, transport time, and release protocol). To be conservative, a tag to body weight ratio of less than 5% was used (Adams *et al.* 1998; Brown *et al.* 1999, 2010), requiring a minimum body weight of 5.0 g, which corresponded to a minimum fork length (FL) of 72 mm. Surgical transmitter implantation

consisted of three steps: (1) pre-operative anesthesia bath; (2) tag implantation; and, (3) post-operative recovery. Post-operative procedures consisted of four steps: (1) post-operative recovery and observation; (2) acclimation and observation prior to release; (3) transport to release location; and, (4) release.

Preparation - We used tricaine methanesulfonate (Tricaine-S), buffered with calcium carbonate to pH 7–8, to anesthetize fish prior to surgical procedures. To minimize the chances for pathogen transfer between fish populations, all equipment used for capture, holding, anesthesia, surgery, recovery, and movement of fish during the project was thoroughly cleaned and disinfected before each use. Between surgeries, surgical instruments were placed in a disinfectant bath (e.g., dilute Novalsan S®, chlorhexidine solution, Fort Dodge Inc.) and transferred to a freshwater rinse bath before the next surgery.

As of the 2013-14 field season, CFS was covered under the Investigational New Animal Drug (INAD) Program. In compliance with our INAD permit, we use AQUI-S[®] 20E (hereafter AQUI-S; AQUI-S New Zealand Ltd.) to anesthetize fish for safe handling. AQUI-S is safe for humans to handle and is an effective anesthetic for fish. The action of AQUI-S is readily reversed when fish are transferred to fresh water. The effectiveness is related to a variety of factors including concentration and fish size.

At the time of tagging, we collected fish individually from a holding tank, weighed them to the nearest 0.1 g, and transferred them to an anesthetic "knockdown" bath containing Tricaine-S solution or AQUI-S for 60-90 seconds. Once a fish was anesthetized, we recorded its condition (e.g., general condition of eyes, scales, and fins) and size (FL to the nearest 1 mm). Following inspection and measurement, we placed fish ventral-side up on a surgery cradle made of Microcell foam with a size-specific mold to hold fish in position. Throughout the procedure, a diffused maintenance anesthesia solution (40-50 mg·l⁻¹) was continuously pumped to gently flush the anesthetic solution over gill membranes to maintain a state of anesthesia and remove metabolic wastes away from the gills. Temperature of the maintenance solution was maintained within $\pm 2^{\circ}$ C of release water. After surgery, we placed fish in a continuously circulating river water holding tank and monitored them until full recovery was attained. Stress Coat® API Inc., which helps replace slime coat and protect scales on a fish, was added to the knockdown bath, the anesthetic solution, and recovery tanks.

Surgical Procedures - The procedure used to implant radio-tags was similar to the shieldedneedle technique described by Ross and Kleiner (1982) as modified by Hogen and Scarnecchia (2006) and Watry and Scarnecchia (2008). We used a 5 mm, precision-depth puncture knife to create an 8 mm incision anterior to the pelvic girdle and 1-2 mm off but parallel to the ventral midline. We inserted a thin, grooved instrument into the incision under the pelvic girdle to guide a small-diameter cannula (18 gauge catheter or syringe needle), inserted posterior to the pelvic girdle, to protect the viscera from injury as the cannula was drawn forward to be exposed in the initial incision. We then fed the antenna from a sterilized radio transmitter into the exposed cannula tip. We withdrew the cannula and the antenna extruded out the exit orifice as we carefully inserted the tag into the peritoneal cavity. The tag was generally positioned immediately under the incision. We closed the incision with two simple interrupted sutures using a 16 mm FS-3 reverse-cutting 9.5 mm circle needle with 6/0 monofilament suture material. Finally, we introduced a small amount of slime over the wound from surrounding skin surfaces

before fish were placed into a tank of fresh river water to recover from anesthesia and surgery. Tagged fish were allowed to recover completely before being transferred to an in-river holding tank (containing only tagged fish) to monitor post-surgery recovery and tag retention.

Recovery and Transport - We held implanted fish for a minimum of 18 hours for recovery observation before transport. We then transferred healthy tagged fish into large, aerated tanks (segregated by release group) on the release boat. Throughout the transport process, we monitored water temperature and dissolved oxygen levels; we added oxygen to the transport tank when necessary to keep dissolved oxygen levels between 7 mg·l⁻¹ and 12 mg·l⁻¹. We used frozen river water as needed to reduce water temperature and acclimate fish to release site temperatures. At release locations, we transferred tagged fish by a dip net in groups of 2–5 fish and released them directly into the channel as the boat traversed from bank to bank, allowing for a diffuse release. This diffused release approach was used to reduce schooling behavior and potential predation, as fish were released over a period of several minutes and distributed laterally across the channel. We performed releases after sunset to reduce potential predation risk immediately after release, when tagged fish were expected to be disoriented and most vulnerable.

Tag Life Validation

To ensure transmitters operated for the entire recommended manufacturers' calculated 21-day battery life, we purchased an additional 40-60 transmitters during each year of the study to monitor battery life. We activated the test transmitters following identical procedures to those used to activate the experimental tags. We then placed the tags in water, tested them at least once daily, and recorded any dead tags. We were able to detect all test tags throughout the calculated manufacturers' battery life (21 days). As a result, tag life corrections were not made in survival analyses. Instead, we restricted the data used in analysis to detections within 21 days of release.

Temperature and streamflow

During the first two years of the study, we recorded temperature (°C) throughout the study period at each of the three stationary receiver sites at 15-minute intervals using Hobo® temperature loggers (Onset, Bourne, Massachusetts). During the third year, we deployed three additional loggers so that a logger was present at each release site. We used 15 minute interval event and mean daily discharge data obtained from the United States Geological Survey stream gauge on the LSR located near Ripon, CA (USGS gage # 11303000).

Deep pool habitat

We used bed elevation survey points to identify geomorphic low spots (i.e., deep pool habitat) within the longitudinal profile (slope) of the Stanislaus River channel. We assumed that bed elevations below the channel average slope represented deep pool habitat (i.e., deeper water with lower velocities). To quantify deep pool habitats, a combination of GIS-based mapping and overlay procedures, with post-processing in Microsoft Excel 2010 (Microsoft, Redmond, Washington) was used to calculate reach-specific coefficients of variation (CV) for bed elevation and both stream bed area and percent (%) total stream bed area within pre-defined elevation categories (see below). Reach-specific CV values were used as a surrogate index for the relative

number of potential predatory fish holding pools, with greater CV values assumed to index a greater number of pool-riffle complexes. Streambed area and percent (%) total stream bed area within pre-defined elevation categories were used to index the overall area and relative area of deep pools. We assumed greater area values to index greater total availability of deep pools and greater percent (%) total area values to index greater relative availability of deep pool habitats. To index the relative "depth" of pool habitats, we used pre-defined elevation categories of >0.00 m, ≥ 1.00 m, ≥ 2.00 m, and ≥ 3.00 m below "expected" bed elevation values, with expected values defined as the average longitudinal profile of the river channel. For all calculations, we relied on a modified combination of the "Loess Curves" and "Standard Deviation of Depths" methods described by Bartley and Rutherfurd (2002) (also see Lisle 1987 and Lisle 1995).

We obtained a GIS file with elevation survey points from the United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS, Sacramento, California, unpublished data). General GIS-based mapping and overlay procedures included placing a uniform 1.0 m^2 point grid over the entire survey area and then assigning survey bed elevations and 0.01 rkm values to each point in the grid. General postprocessing in Microsoft Excel included determining an expected bed elevation for each 1.0 m^2 grid point based on 0.01 rkm values and then calculating CV and both area and percent (%) total area values based on observed and expected stream bed elevations.

Specific GIS-based mapping and overlay procedures using ArcGIS 10.2 included: 1) developing a polygon shapefile that contained the entire survey area, 2) splitting the polygon shapefile containing the entire survey area into multiple study reach polygons, 3) converting the resulting polygons for each study reach into 1.0 m² raster grid files using the polygon to raster tool, 4) converting the resulting raster grid files for each study reach into point files where each point represented 1.0 m² using the raster to point tool, and 5) assigning bed elevation and 0.01 rkm values to each of the resulting grid points. These geoprocessing procedures were performed to generate evenly spaced grid points throughout the study reach. Evenly spaced grid points were required to provide a uniform sample of the bed elevation in each study reach and served as an effective way to sample bed elevation survey points. Additionally, the number of grid points placed within each study reach polygon provided a relative comparison of the approximate wetted area at the time the bed elevation survey was conducted.

Specific post-processing in Microsoft Excel included: 1) calculating reach-specific CV values, 2) estimating linear relationships for upstream-to-downstream changes in bed elevation within each reach, and 3) applying linear relationships to determine both stream bed area and percent (%) total stream bed area within pre-defined elevation categories (see below) and overall channel gradient. Reach specific CV values were calculated using the standard deviation for bed elevation within a given reach divided by the mean bed elevation within a given reach. Bed elevation and CV (as surrogate for "pool") point topographic features were further processed using the topo-to-raster surface and contour analysis in ArcGIS 3D analyst displaying bathymetric gradient features on the study site.

Alcove habitat

To identify alcove habitat, we created a 5x5m rectangular grid and exported points and polygons using ArcGIS. We clipped this grid to the polygon of the study site. We then created a center line within the polygon feature extent of the study site and split the line into 20-m segments.

Each of these lines was associated with the unique ID and subreach in which it was located. Then, the 20-m lines were spatially joined with the 5x5m grid points so that each grid point had the specific 20-m line id and subreach in its attribute table. The resulting attribute table was exported and summarized using the R statistical package. The number of points belonging to each 20-m line ID was counted and was average by subreach. The average values by subreach were used as threshold for identifying "alcove" habitat; if a channel line has a higher number of points than the average value for that subreach, the area represented by that line is likely to have a wider channel width. After summarizing the number of points for each channel line ID, we imported the results back into ArcGIS, and ran the select query tool by location attributes to select channel lines ID with number of points higher than the threshold values. The selected channel lines were then visually checked to verify that it was an alcove. Alcove area and total area of the study site were then calculated using the ArcGIS geometry.

Mobile Telemetry

We conducted mobile telemetry surveys in the six sub-reaches to collect data related to fish distribution and movement and identify potential locations of high mortality. Mobile tracking surveys were conducted from a 4.3 m drift boat with a 24.9 kg thrust trolling motor or a 4.9 m jon boat with a 31.8 kg thrust trolling motor and 90-horsepower outboard jet. We used Lotek SRX-400a datalogging receivers connected to a single four-element Yagi antenna (Lotek Wireless, Newmarket, Ontario, Canada). During the first two years of the study, a Trimble GeoXT 6000 series GPS unit was used to record spatial coordinates every second. Time of day was synchronized between the receiver and GPS unit, allowing us to assign a latitude and longitude to each detection based on cross-referencing date and time stamps between the receiver and GPS track data using GPS Pathfinder® Office (Trimble®, Sunnyvale, CA), ArcGIS 10.1 (ESRI; Redlands, CA), and Microsoft Access® 2010 (Microsoft, Redmond, Washington) software programs. During the third year, we recorded the tag code and frequency from the receiver directly in the GPS unit in the field, eliminating the need to sync and merge the spatial and receiver datasets. In all years, we recorded the following information each time a fish was located: time, tag code (unique fish identifier), and other field observations (location in channel, deep water, riffle, etc.). All surveys were conducted during daylight hours. Because it was logistically impossible for a single team to survey the entire study reach in a single day, either 1) only the upstream or downstream portion of the study reach was sampled in a given day, or 2) two separate teams were used to survey the upstream and downstream reach, respectively.

Movement Patterns

Movement histories or patterns were analyzed to assign each daily detection a directional movement designation according to the criteria listed in Table 2. If tag detections were observed moving in a progressively downstream direction from previous locations (i.e., either release location or previous survey detection) during two or more consecutive survey events with no subsequent upstream or holding behaviors, it was considered a downstream detection string. Tags detected at the Caswell receiver (rkm 14.8; the downstream extent of the study reach) were considered to be moving "downstream". Although downstream detection strings could potentially be attributed to a predator moving downstream with a tagged fish in its stomach, we made the assumption that downstream detection strings were most likely outmigrating juveniles since that is their expected pattern of movement. In contrast, if tag detections were located

greater than 1 rkm upstream from a previous detection location, it was considered an upstream detection string. It is possible that upstream detections could result from tagged juveniles migrating in an upstream direction; however, upstream migration is not a common behavior for juvenile Chinook salmon (Steele *et al.* 2001). As such, we assumed that larger, more mobile fish (e.g., predatory species) were more likely to exhibit upstream movement patterns; therefore, if a predatory fish consumed a tagged juvenile salmon we could expect this pattern of upstream movement.

Table 2. Criteria used to classify directional movement patterns. Each daily detection string for individual tags was assigned a single directional movement pattern and daily data was compiled into a comprehensive detection history, including release location and detections from both mobile units and fixed receiver stations.

Directional movement	Criteria	Possible scenarios
Downstream	One or more detections >1 rkm downstream from previous detection, with no subsequent upstream or holding patterns.	Outmigrating juvenilePredator moving downstream
Upstream	One or more observations >1 rkm upstream from previous detection.	 Predator moving upstream Juvenile migrating upstream

Data Management, Spatial and Statistical Analyses

Mobile Telemetry Data

Detection strings recorded during mobile surveys were grouped into two categories based on movement patterns (i.e., downstream, upstream, Table 2). These categories were selected in order to minimize speculation regarding the status of individual detection strings (e.g., whether they were out-migrating juveniles or tagged fish consumed by a predator). However, it is tenuous to designate the status of a detection string based on point observations from mobile surveys, particularly those observations without visual confirmation. As such, analyses were performed using data that were restricted to observations that demonstrated stark contrasts in behavior; analyses of mobile survey data were made based on categories of behavior that appeared counter to what would be expected for an out-migrating juvenile Chinook salmon. For example, while it is relatively common for an out-migrating Chinook salmon to remain in a given location for several days, upstream migration is generally uncommon behavior (Steel et al. 2001). However, many common predators (e.g., pikeminnow Ptychocheilus grandis, striped bass Morone saxatilis) are highly mobile and may move several km upstream or downstream in a single day (Harvey and Nakamato 1999; Kynard and Warner 1987). Atypical downstream detection strings were scrutinized for timing (days at large), the day after the release date as well the location (in rkm) that a tagged fish was last detected, travel rate, and distance traveled.

Stationary Receiver Data

Data were downloaded from receivers weekly throughout the study period. Each download consisted of a series of detection data, which were then filtered to eliminate false detections (e.g., detections considered noise or invalid tag codes). Data were entered into MS Access and filtered based on the following criteria: 1) detections that occurred prior to release; 2) detections that occurred after the 21-day tag life; 3) any detections with error codes (e.g., "255" or "999" tag codes); 4) any detections of unknown tag codes (e.g., noise or interference); and, 5) tags with fewer than 2 detections within 30 minutes at a single receiver (Perry et al. 2010). After data were filtered, queries were performed to provide the first and last detections (date and time) for each individual study fish at each receiver (i.e., 1, 2, 3.1 and 3.2). These data were then used to

create a database that related these detections to data regarding channel morphometrics, time and location of release, travel rate and detection trajectories for each tagged fish.

Tag effects

To determine how surgical implantation and presence of radio tags with external antennae impact survival, behavior, and growth of juvenile Chinook salmon *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha* and whether implanted tags are retained, we developed a laboratory study to test the following hypotheses:

H₀1: Tagged fish do not expel their surgically implanted transmitter.

H₀2: Survival rates are equal for tagged and non-tagged fish

 H_03 : Behavior of tagged fish is similar to that of non-tagged fish.

H₀4: Growth of tagged fish is similar to that of non-tagged fish.

This study had two components: 1) assessment of tag retention, survival and behavioral recovery, and 2) quantitative evaluation of post-recovery condition. The first component was designed to address questions related to the first three hypotheses, while the second component is designed to address questions related to the fourth hypothesis.

In 2013, for each release event, we selected a representative sample of 40 treatment and 40 control fish. Group 1 fish were tagged on 25 March 2013 (during Release 1 tagging for the field experiment) and Group 2 fish were tagged on 22 April 2013 (during Release 2 fish tagging for the field experiment).

In 2014, for each release event (Group 1 and Group 2), we selected a representative sample of 20-tagged fish, 20 control fish, and 20 fish that had surgery but no implanted tag. This third "surgery only" treatment was added to separate the effects of surgery from the effects of the presence of the tag, and was used for the analysis of survival and tag retention only because it was impossible to distinguish control fish from the surgery-only fish during the behavioral assessments. Group 1 fish were tagged on 18 April 2014 and Group 2 fish were tagged on 30 April 2014. Control fish were selected and transported in a similar manner to study fish except they were not subject to anesthetization, handling, or tag implantation. Treatment fish were anesthetized and tagged following the procedures previously outlined. "Surgery only" fish were anesthetized and surgery was performed without tag implantation following the same procedures. All fish were transported to the NOAA Fisheries Aquaculture Lab in Santa Cruz, CA immediately following the initial post-operative recovery period (minimum 1 hour). A continual flow of oxygenated freshwater pumped through the aquarium system supplied comparable water quality among tanks. All transported fish were acclimated to laboratory filter water by first adjusting their temperature 1°C per hour and then transfer to the laboratory water.

Fish were separated into four 189.3 l tanks with a flow-through circulation system in 2013. In 2014, fish were separated into two 1135.6 l tanks with a flow-through circulation system. Feeding sessions occurred every morning and tanks were siphoned every Monday, Wednesday, and Friday to minimize the accumulation of organic matter and maintain water quality. Siphoning occurred no less than one hour after feeding to allow fish time to consume and digest

rations and to minimize stress following feeding. In 2014, each tank was scrubbed twice a week as needed before siphoning.

Behavioral assessment

A submersible camera with video capabilities was mounted inside the tanks to passively collect video footage during each of two three-week (2013) or two-week (2014) monitoring periods. In 2013, Group 1 fish were sampled three times during days 9 to 11 following surgery, while Group 2 fish were sampled three times per week during the three-week monitoring period. One video per tank was recorded during the first and last week while two videos per tank were collected during the second week. In 2014, Group 1 and 2 fish were sampled Monday through Friday throughout the two-week monitoring period. For both 2013 and 2014, the start time was recorded as the time the camera was placed in the water and the stop time as when the camera was removed. The filming period lasted 15 minutes.

The first two minutes of each video was removed from analysis to reduce behavioral effects associated with camera placement. Four 5-10 second video segments were randomly selected for viewing to analyze: 1) position in water column; 2) tag presence; and, 3) body orientation (i.e., pitch). We attempted to quantify individual gill and tail beats as a measure of respiration and swim performance, respectively; however, it was too difficult to isolate individual fish to accurately complete this assessment. As such, these data were not included in the final analysis.

Tag retention rates were reported as the percentage of tags retained. Survival was compared among the treatment and control groups with a chi-square test. Data on behavioral recovery was assessed using a chi-square test to compare differences in position in the water column and body orientation among treatment and control groups. Analyses were performed in JMP Pro 11.0.0 (SAS Institute, Inc.) statistical software.

Post-recovery condition

Following the second three-week monitoring period in 2013, a necropsy was completed for every fish from each tank. After euthanizing fish by immersing them in a lethal-dose solution (>150 mg·l⁻¹) of tricaine methanesufolnate (Tricaine-S), we noted whether fish were from the treatment or control group and whether antennas were still attached to the transmitters of tagged fish. We also measured fork length (mm FL) and weight (g) and qualitatively assessed the general condition of eyes, fins, and scales (Table 3). Tagged fish were weighed with the tag; weights were corrected by subtracting the tag weight (0.25 g in water) for those fish. We then qualitatively evaluated incision healing and whether tags were incorporated into tissue (Sandstrom *et al.* 2013).

Factor	Range	Description
Eyes	0	Absolute eye clarity
	1	Moderate cloudiness of eye
	2	Extreme cloudiness of eye
Fins 0		No fraying to any fins
	1	Moderate fraying or damage to fins
	2	Extreme fraying or damage to fins
Scales	0	No scale loss
	1	Loss of scales of up to 33% of body coverage
	2	Loss of scales form 33% to 66% of body coverage

Table 3. The factors evaluated during the necropsy and the qualitative descriptions given based on a 0-2 scale.

In 2014, necropsies could not be performed because all fish contracted the protozoan parasite *Ichthyophthirius multifiliis* (i.e., "Ich") 28 days after the experiment started. Their tags were removed but no data was taken before discarding their bodies.

We analyzed growth in 2013 by comparing fork length and weight of treatment and control groups at the end of the study. We performed a two-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test in R with both growth variables to evaluate differences in growth between control and treatment fish. Analysis was performed using the R statistical package (R Core Team 2014).

Data analysis

Survival

Survival was estimated using stationary and mobile detections to take advantage of the strengths and limit the biases associated with each method of detection. Stationary receivers have the advantage of detecting fish 24 hours a day during the study period and spatially explicit estimates of survival can be obtained. However, stationary receivers are biased against fish that are holding or rearing because they will be considered mortalities if they do not pass a receiver station. Mobile detections are useful because they represent fish that are actively migrating or rearing/holding. Temporally explicit estimates of survival can be produced and there is better spatial resolution of where mortality occurs within a reach. However, detections can only occur during the discrete interval of mobile surveys and fish may be incorrectly classified as mortalities if they move out of the study reach between mobile surveys. Combined, these two types of sampling provide a more complete picture of Chinook salmon survival and behavior in the Stanislaus River.

Mobile detection models

Mobile detection histories were analyzed with a multi-state model in the program MARK. Multi-state models allow for estimation of fish survival in the study reach between each survey and the probability that a fish may either remain in the study reach or leave the study reach (transition probability). In this way, fish that leave the study reach will not be misidentified as mortalities. The receiver array at Caswell was used to determine if a fish had left the study reach prior to a mobile tracking survey. Detection histories used in multistate models vary from binary responses used in Cormack Jolly-Seber models because the two states must be identified. In the models constructed here we used "U" to represent the state of remaining in the upstream study reach and "D" was used to indicate the fish had transitioned downstream out of the study reach. For example, a detection history of U0D0 would indicate the fish was detected in the upstream study reach on occasion 1, was not detected on occasion 2 and was detected at the downstream receiver (Caswell) on occasion 3. The zero on occasion four does not count as a mortality since the fish had left the study reach. This class of models allows for estimation of survival in both states as well as transition probabilities in both directions. However, there were no surveys downstream of Caswell and upstream migration is an unusual behavior for salmon smolts. Thus, we set to zero estimates of transition from downstream to upstream and survival of fish downstream of Caswell. The two variables estimated from these models were (1) survival of fish in the study reach between each survey and (2) the probability of transitioning out of the study reach between surveys.

Certain aspects of the mobile surveys prevented the data from being combined across years and releases. For example, survey intervals varied among years and releases which could have a large influence on model output because survival is being modeled by time (between survey intervals). Thus, models were constructed for individual releases in each year for a total of six separate analyses. A model selection exercise using AIC_c was performed to examine spatial differences in survival (1st study goal) and model structure. The three models considered were 1) a model where each sub-reach was grouped separately, 2) a model with equal detection probabilities for each release group (equal detection), and 3) a model with no groupings by release group (no groups).

A mobile tracking survey was performed three days after each release in all years. Thus, daily survival values over the first three days were used to compare survival between early and late releases and over different flow levels. Daily survival values for each release group and their 95% confidence intervals were plotted for early and late releases in each year. If the 95% confidence intervals did not overlap, the difference in survival was considered to be significant. To test for an effect of flow, a linear regression was performed where flow was the independent variable and logit transformed survival was the response variable.

Stationary detection models

Survival was modeled from the stationary detection data using Cormack-Jolly-Seber (CJS) models in the program MARK. These models addressed the first two study goals by estimating reach specific survival rates (1st goal) and modeling the effect of biotic and abiotic parameters on survival in the LSR (2nd goal). Detection histories were broken out by releases performed in each of the three study reaches. Thus, three separate analyses were performed over all study years including; releases in Reach 1 (1A and 1B), releases in Reach 2 (2A and 2B) and releases in Reach 3 (3A and 3B). For each analysis, a set of candidate survival models was constructed.

Each candidate model was considered a separate hypothesis to explain the detection data with each hypothesis directly related to a study goal. For example, to address differences in survival in space, a variable was added to designate the reach where study fish were released. Model fit was then evaluated using an information theoretic approach. Akaike's Information Criteria corrected for small sample size (AIC_c) was calculated for each candidate model in the set. The AIC_c value for each candidate model was compared to the value for the best approximating model (Δ AIC_c). Models with a Δ AIC_c value \leq 2.00 were considered competing explanations for the detection data (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Predictors used in each model and the hypothesis represented by that model appears in Table 4.

represents.			
Model predictor	Hypothesis		

Table 4. Models evaluated to explain detections on stationary receivers and the hypothesis that each model

Model predictor	Hypothesis
Early/Late	Survival varies as a function of release timing (early vs. late).
Flow	Survival varies as a function of flow during the release.
Fork length	Survival varies as a function of fish size at release.
Full model	Survival varies as a function of all potential predictors.
None	No variables improve model fit.
Release group	Survival varies as a function of sub-reach of release.
Temperature	Survival varies as a function of water temperature at the time of release.
Years	Variation in survival is greatest among years.

Travel time

Travel time of study fish was also calculated separately for stationary and mobile detections. Similar to the survival calculations, estimates from the stationary data represent actively migrating fish whereas mobile detections also represent fish displaying holding and rearing behavior. A series of statistical tests were performed to test for differences in travel time between reaches during early and late release and between early and late releases in each reach. Initial screening of the travel time data indicated that the assumption of normality was violated and parametric tests such as analysis of variance could not be used. The nonparametric Kruskal-Wallis test was applied instead to test for differences in travel time. When differences were detected, a Wilcoxon multiple comparison test was performed to determine where the differences occurred. To test for a relationship between travel time and survival, travel time was regressed against logit transformed survival estimates for both stationary and mobile detection datasets.

Habitat-mortality relationships

To identify habitats and spatial locations where mortality of tagged fish occurred, three analyses were performed using the mobile detection data set. These analyses addressed the 3rd and 4th study goals listed above. First, the river kilometer where the last known detection occurred was plotted on a map of the study reach. For each of the three 10 km sub-reaches random points equal to the number of observed last-detections in that reach were also plotted. We then used nearest neighbor distances to test if observed last-detections were clumped relative to random values using the global Moran's I tool in ArcGIS. Second, a hot spot analysis was performed in ArcGIS. This analysis identifies areas in the study reach where observed last-detections are

significantly clumped together. Finally, an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was employed to test if the relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at locations of last-detection was significantly different from a 1:1 relationship. A relationship with a smaller intercept would indicate last-detection locations were at lower bed elevations than expected (i.e. deeper habitats) whereas a greater intercept would indicate last-detection locations were in shallower areas than expected.

To identify study reaches with features that may negatively impact juvenile salmon, the location of multiple artificial features were plotted on a map of the 50 km study reach. The features identified included water diversions, return drains, and bridges. The proportion of each feature type was calculated for each sub-reach. Additionally, another hot spot analysis was performed to determine if there were significant grouping of these features within the 50 km study reach.

Results

2012 releases

All Chinook salmon tagged and released in 2012 were obtained from the Merced River hatchery. The early release in 2012 occurred between April 9th and 10th at a discharge of 36.1 m³·s⁻¹ (1,274 ft³•s⁻¹) and a temperature of 12.0^oC. A total of 202 tagged fish were released among the 6 subreaches and the mean size of tagged fish was 80.9 mm (SD +/- 2.9). The second release in 2012 occurred between May 2nd and May 3rd when discharge was 31.4 m³·s⁻¹ (1,109 ft³•s⁻¹) and water temperature was 13.4 ^oC. The 207 juveniles released had a mean fork length of 77.9 mm (+/- 6.1 SD). Tagged fish from both releases had a mean size greater than fish collected in the Caswell screwtrap during the same time period. However, confidence intervals overlapped indicating no statistically significant difference.

2013 releases

All Chinook salmon tagged and released in 2013 were obtained from the Merced River hatchery. The first release in 2013 occurred between March 26th and March 27th at a discharge of 10.1 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (357 $\text{ft}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$) and a water temperature of 14.2 °C. The 210 fish in the first release had a mean fork length of 81.4 mm and a standard deviation of 6.2. The second release occurred on April 23rd 2013 when discharge was 57.5 $\text{m}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$ (2,031 $\text{ft}^3 \cdot \text{s}^{-1}$) and water temperature was 13.8 °C. The 206 fish in this release had a mean fork length of 97.8 mm and a standard deviation of 14.3. The mean size of experimental fish was significantly larger than fish captured in the Caswell screwtrap during the same period (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Comparison of the fork lengths of tagged fish (open squares) with natural-origin fish captured in the Caswell screwtrap for each year of the study.

	Total number of fish released Average fork length in mm (±SD))					
Release group	1a	1b	2a	2b	3 a	3b
Release location (rkm)	62.5	54.8	47.7	40.1	32.9	27.3
Release time	18:00	20:30	23:00	1:30	4:00	6:30
2012 (Release 1)	50	48	36	28	20	20
	81(± 2.7)	81(± 2.9)	80(± 3.2)	81(± 2.9)	81(± 3.1)	82(± 2.5)
2012 (Release 2)	51	52	33	34	18	19
	79(± 2.7)	78(± 2.7)	$79(\pm 2.7)$	78(± 3.0)	$79(\pm 3.0)$	72(±17.6)
2013 (Release 1)	35	35	35	35	35	35
	82(± 3.0)	81(± 2.8)	81(± 2.3)	82(± 2.6)	$82(\pm 2.6)$	82(± 2.1)
2013 (Release 2)	39	30	34	34	35	34
	100(± 5.9)	96(±18.6)	$101(\pm 14.8)$	$100(\pm 4.7)$	$96(\pm 7.6)$	$100(\pm 5.2)$
2014 (Release 1)	35	35	35		35	35
	83(± 2.5)	84(± 2.5)	82(± 14.5)	35(± 2.3)	83(± 2.5)	84(± 2.6)
2014 (Release 2)	33	33	32		32	31
	82(± 5.2)	84(± 3.5)	$82(\pm 4.0)$	32(± 3.7)	85(± 4.8)	84(± 3.8)

Table 5. Release groups by year and release, including location and time of release, number of fish released, and fork length (mm).

2014 releases

Fish released in 2014 were obtained from the Mokelumne River Fish Hatchery due to disease issues at the Merced River Fish Hatchery. During the first release (April 18th-19th) discharge in the Stanislaus River was 76.1 m³·s⁻¹ (2,687 ft³•s⁻¹) and water temperature was 14.1 °C. Mean fork length of the 210 fish in this release was 83.1 mm with a standard deviation of 6.3. The second release in 2014 was performed between May 1st and 2nd when flow was 64.6 m³·s⁻¹ (2,281 ft³•s⁻¹) and water temperature was 13.8 °C. The 193 fish in this release were similar in size to the first release with a mean fork length of 83.6 mm and standard deviation of 4.3. The mean size of tagged fish was greater than fish collected in the Caswell screwtrap during the same period. However, confidence intervals overlapped indicating no significant difference (Figure 5).

Survival from stationary detections

Multiple survival estimates were derived for reaches 2 and 3 because fish released in Reach 1 also passed through reaches 2 and 3 and releases in Reach 2 also passed through reach 3. Estimating survival separately for releases in each reach provided a way to examine the variability of survival estimates within years. Below are descriptions of the model selection exercise results and survival estimates derived for releases in each reach.

Reach 1 releases

A total of eight candidate models were evaluated to describe survival of fish between stationary receiver arrays (Table 6). For releases into Reach 1, the model with "Year" as the only predictor variable was selected as the best approximating model with no other model having a $\Delta AIC_c < 77$. The model with sub-reach as a variable had a ΔAIC_c of 166 indicating variation in survival by sub-reach was not supported by the data. Additionally, the model with release timing (early vs. late) had a ΔAIC_c of 154 indicating that this was not a well-supported explanation of the data. None of the models including biotic or abiotic variables had good support in the data as evaluated by ΔAIC_c values (Table 6). Across all years, survival was greater in 2013 than in the other two study years. However there was more variation among years in reaches 2 and 3 than Reach 1 (Figure 6). This variation was synchronous in reaches 2 and 3 (i.e. when survival increased in Reach 2 it also increased in Reach 1). Additionally, survival estimates were similar in reaches 2 and 3 in each year. Survival in Reach 1 was generally greater than the other two study reaches and was similar in 2012 and 2013 (Figure 6). In 2014, poor detection probabilities at the Adrian Ranch receiver array resulted in an uncertain estimate of survival in this reach (Table 7).

Reach 2 releases

Of the eight candidate models evaluated for survival of releases into Reach 2, the model with "Year" as the only predictor variable was selected as the best approximating model with no other model having a $\Delta AIC_c < 24$. Similar to releases in Reach 1, the model with a variable identifying early and late releases was not a well-supported explanation of the data ($\Delta AIC_c = 97$) nor was the model that included sub-reach ($\Delta AIC_c = 81$). None of the models including other biotic or abiotic predictors enjoyed support in the data. In Reach 2, the estimates of survival for fish releases in Reach 1 through this reach suggesting little between-release variation (Figure 6). A similar pattern was observed between years where survival was greatest in 2013 and lower yet similar in 2012 and 2014. Survival of these releases through Reach 3 had 95% confidence intervals that overlapped with Reach 1 releases in this reach; however, the pattern of mean estimates was different. Survival was lowest in 2012 and greatest in 2014 (Figure 6).

Release group	Model predictors	AIC _c	
1A, 1B	Years	1310	0
	Full model	1387	77
	None	1399	89
	Fork length	1422	112
	Early vs. late	1464	154
	Temperature	1470	160
	sub-reach	1476	166
	Flow	1480	170
24.20	**	000	0
2A, 2B	Years	808	0
	None	832	24
	Fork length	876	68
	Full model	883	75
	sub-reach	889	81
	Flow	898	90
	Early vs. late	905	97
	Temperature	911	103
3A, 3B	Full model	529	0
,	Flow	546	17
	Fork length	565	36
	Vears	565	36
	Farly vs late	575	20 46
	sub-reach	579	50
	None	581	52
	Temperature	583	54

Table 6. Results of a model selection exercise to elucidate the most likely model to explain patterns of survival derived from stationary receiver detections.









Figure 6. Estimated survival and 95% confidence intervals in each reach from 2012-2014. Survival estimates in reaches 2 and 3 were estimated independently for each release to determine the precision of the estimates.

Reach 3 releases

The full model was selected as the best approximating model for releases in Reach 3 and no other model had a $\Delta AIC_c < 17$. When coefficient values for each predictor were examined, only the dummy variable indicating sub-reach was found to be a well-supported predictor of survival for releases in 2014 (Table 8). However, other predictors were significantly related to the combined survival and detection probabilities. This suggests that detection probabilities were influenced by environmental variables. The coefficient for release group was positive indicating that releases made in 3B had a higher survival rate than releases in 3A (farther upstream).

Table 7. Survival estimates and standard errors in the three study reaches in 2012, 2013 and 2014. Model selection indicated there was little support for variation in survival at the sub-reach level. For Reach 3, the full model was the best explanation of survival but estimates by year are provided here for comparison.

		Release group			
Year	Reach	1A, 1B	2A, 2B	3A, 3B*	
	1	0.70 (0.10)	NA	NA	
2012	2	0.35 (0.07)	0.28 (0.06)	NA	
	3	0.36 (0.07)	0.32 (0.09)	0.25 (0.05)	
	1	0.73 (0.06)	NA	NA	
2013	2	0.64 (0.09)	0.75 (0.18)	NA	
	3	0.67 (0.09)	0.38 (0.10)	0.44 (0.04)	
	1	0.99 (<0.01)	NA	NA	
2014	2	0.21 (0.06)	0.38 (0.05)	NA	
	3	0.36 (0.13)	0.51 (0.08)	0.52 (0.04)	

Table 8. Parameter estimates for the best fit model describing survival in Reach 3. Only the dummy variable "group" had a 95% confidence interval that did not include zero indicating it was a significant predictor of survival.

Year	2012	2013	2014	
Intercept	3.07 (0.00)	-1.65 (954.35)	2.12 (2890.70)	
sub-reach	-0.38 (0.58)	-0.36 (0.42)	-0.91 (0.37)*	
Early vs. late	-0.86 (0.00)	-1.59 (326.64)	0.64 (117.46)	
Fork length	-0.08 (0.11)	0.04 (0.04)	-0.07 (0.05)	
Temperature	0.17 (0.00)	-0.10 (63.07)	0.12 (185.62)	
Flow	0.02 (40.86)	-0.003 (6.20)	0.03 (10.96)	

To compare survival of releases in Reach 3 to survival of other releases through this reach, survival in each year was estimated. The 95% confidence intervals overlapped for releases in each reach (Table 7). However, mean survival estimates were similar for releases made into both Reach 3 and Reach 2 (Figure 6). Additionally, there was a similar pattern to the Reach 2 releases where survival increased each year of the study.

Survival from mobile detections

For both releases in 2012, the best approximating model included a grouping variable for individual release locations and equal detection probabilities (Table 9). This result indicates that there was significant spatial variation in survival among sub-reaches. No other model had a $\Delta AIC_c < 7$. The greatest mortality for each release group occurred between the release and the first mobile survey 2 days later. However, the magnitude of survival over this period varied among release locations from a high of 100% in 3b to a low of 20% in Sub-reach 2b. Survival was less variable among sites over the next 5 days until the final mobile survey 7 days after the

release. Fish released in 3a and 3b transitioned quickly out of the study reach with probabilities of 0.62 and 0.70 in 3a and 3b respectively on day 2. Fish from 1a, 1b and 2a transitioned out of the study reach on day 5; however, probabilities were low (Figure 8). Only fish from 1b transitioned from the study reach on day 7. No fish from 2b were ever observed transitioning out of the study reach and survival was lower for fish released into this reach relative to any other location.

Year	Release	Model	AIC _c	ΔAIC_{c}
2012	High flow	Equal detection probability	944	0
		Full model	951	7
		No groups	989	45
	Low flow	Equal detection probability	646	0
		Full model	669	23
		No groups	692	46
2013	High flow	Equal detection probability	10696	0
		Full model	10766	70
		No groups	10807	111
	Low flow	Full model	1270	0
		Equal detection probability	1355	84
		No groups	1431	160
2014	High flow	Full model	1463	0
		Equal detection probability	1469	6
		No groups	1619	155
	Low flow	Equal detection probability	1025	0
		Full model	1053	28
		No groups	1079	54

Table 9. Results of a model selection exercise to determine the most likely model to describe survival and transition probabilities as a function of time from mobile detections.

Similar to the first release, the greatest drop in survival of fish in the second release occurred between the release and the first mobile survey two days later. With the exception of the release in 2b survival was lower in all release locations during the second release. Survival remained relatively similar between the mobile survey two days after the release and the last survey four days after the release (Figure 7). Unlike the first release, no fish were observed transitioning out of the study reach until the survey on day three. On day three a large fraction of fish (63%) released in 3b were estimated to have transitioned out of the study reach. Fish released in 2b were observed transitioning on day three. On day three fish released in 1b, 2a and 2b were observed transitioning out of the study reach in moderate numbers (Figure 7). Fish released in 1a and 3a were not observed leaving the study reach during the period when mobile surveys occurred.

For both releases in 2013, the model that used a grouping variable for each release group and equal detection probabilities was selected as the best approximating model (Table 9). This

indicates spatial variation in survival among sub-reaches was significant. There was considerable variation in survival rate among most release groups between the release and the mobile survey on day 4 with values ranging from 44 to 92% in 3a and 1a respectively (Figure 7). During the first few days, survival was generally higher for releases made farther upstream; however, by day 6, the range of cumulative survival among groups had been reduced to 26% and during the last mobile survey 9 days following the release, there was no consistent spatial patterns in cumulative survival. Fish were observed transitioning out of the study reach between day 2 and day 7 following the release although probabilities were low (5-16%; Figure 8). Between the release and day 4, only fish released in 2b and 3b were observed. On day 6 and 7 fish released in all other reaches were observed transitioning out of the reach (Figure 8).

Following the second release, no fish released at 2b was ever detected again whereas fish at all other release sites experienced relatively high survival rates between the release and the first mobile survey on day 3 (81-100%). Between day 4 and the last survey on day 9, cumulative survival dropped precipitously for fish at most release sites with the exception of fish released in 1b that continued to experience high survival throughout the study period. Fish rapidly transitioned out of the study reach during this release. By day 3, fish from almost all reaches were observed transitioning out of the study reach with greater probabilities for fish released at locations farther downstream (Figure 8). High probabilities of leaving the study reach continued throughout the study period with higher probabilities for upstream releases occurring later (day 6-9; Figure 8).

The best model for the first release in 2014 was the fully time dependent model and no other model had a $\Delta AIC_c < 6$. For the second release, the model with equal detection probabilities was selected as the best approximating model. Thus, spatial variation in survival among sub-reaches was significant for both releases. Cumulative survival was greater during this release than during any other release over the three-year study period. Even after 18 days, survival of fish that remained in the study reach was $\geq 66\%$. Fish transitioned out of the study reach rapidly during this first release. During the survey one day after the release, fish from all release groups except 1b, were observed transitioning out of the study reach. Fish released at 3a and 3b in particular had high probabilities of transitioning out of the study reach early in the study period. However, there were low transition probabilities for fish released in reaches 1 and 2 even though mobile surveys were conducted up to day 18 following the release.



Figure 7. Cumulative survival of tagged Chinook salmon that remained in the 50 km study reach between each mobile survey period.



Figure 8. Probability of Chinook salmon released in each sub-reach leaving the 50 km study reach between each mobile survey period.

Cumulative survival in the second release was lower relative to the first release but was higher than releases in other years. By the last survey eight days after the release, cumulative survival ranged from 59 to 76% for releases in 3b and 3a respectively (Figure 7). Fish also transitioned out of the study reach rapidly during the second release though probabilities were lower than during the first release (Figure 8). On the first day after the release, fish released in 2b, 3a and 3b were observed with the greatest probability for fish in 3b (62%) and lowest for fish in 2b (10%). On day 3, fish from all releases were observed transitioning out of the study reach however, probabilities were relatively low (3-15%). Between day 5 and 8 only fish from 1a, 1b and 3b were observed transitioning out of the reach.

The per-day survival rate was calculated over the first three days post-release to facilitate comparison of mobile survival data across releases and years. For releases in 2012, early releases generally had greater survival rates than late releases although 95% confidence intervals overlapped for most releases. Only releases in 1a had non-overlapping confidence intervals (Figure 9). In 2013 daily survival rates were qualitatively greater for late releases however, 95% confidence overlapped for almost all release groups. The exceptions were for the late release into 2b where no fish were observed to survive and the late release in 3a where 100% of fish were observed to survive (Figure 9). Daily survival was qualitatively higher for early releases in 2014 with the exception of the two early releases in reach three where daily survival was observed to be 100% (Figure 9).

Variation in discharge across releases and years explained 2.5- 69.4% of the variation in daily survival rate across all release sites; however, this relationship was only statistically significant for releases in 2a (F=9.05, p=0.040). . However, the strength of this relationship appeared to be modified by release location.



Figure 9. Cumulative survival and 95% confidence intervals on the third day post release for each release group in 2012, 2013, and 2014.

Travel time

Stationary detections

During early releases, mean travel time as calculated from stationary detections ranged from a low of 17.8 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 2, to a high of 27.1 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 1 (Figure 10). During late releases, mean travel time ranged from a low of 26.0 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 3 to a high of 51.3 km·day⁻¹ in Reach 1. A Kruskal-Wallis test yielded a significant difference in travel time between early and late releases in all three reaches with faster rates observed during late releases (Table 10). A significant difference among reaches was detected during the early releases ($\chi^2 = 30.046, p < 0.001$). A Wilcoxon multicomparisons test indicated that the significant differences were between reach 1 and the other two reaches. There was no significant difference between reaches $\chi^2 = 2.621, p < 0.270$). To determine if there was a relationship between travel time and survival, a linear regression of travel time on logit transformed survival was performed. This model explained 29.5% of the variation in survival; however, the relationship was not statistically significant (F = 2.51, p = 0.164).

Table 10. Results of Kruskal-Wallis tests to determine differences in travel time between early and late releases in each reach.

Reach	χ^2	<i>p</i> -value
1	27.290	< 0.001
2	14.061	< 0.001
3	11.468	0.001

Mobile detections

Mean travel times calculated from mobile detections during early releases ranged from a low of 0.88 km·day⁻¹ in Sub-reach 3b to a high of 9.2 km·day⁻¹ in 1a (Figure 11). During the late releases, travel time ranged from 2.0 km·day⁻¹ in Sub-reach 3a to 8.9 km·day⁻¹ in Sub-reach 1a. A Kruskal-Wallis test was performed to test for differences between early and late releases among all release groups. This test revealed significant differences between release sites in the early period ($\chi^2 = 261.837$, p < 0.001) and in the late period ($\chi^2 = 118.424$, p < 0.001; Figure 11). A Wilcoxon multicomparisons test was performed to identify which release groups were significantly different (Table 11). A separate Kruskal-Wallis test was performed to test for differences between early and late releases for each release group. The only significant difference between early and late releases was for fish released into 3a and 3b (Table 11). A regression of daily survival rate over the first three days on travel time explained little variation (< 1%) and was not statistically significant (F = 0.136, p = 0.714).



Figure 10. Estimates of travel time (+/- SE) for early and late releases in the three 10km study reaches calculated from stationary detections.

Table 11. Results of Kruskal-Wallis tests to determine differences in travel time between early and late releases in each reach.

Reach	χ^2	<i>p</i> -value
1A	0.162	0.688
1B	1.077	0.300
2A	2.695	0.101
2B	0.328	0.567
3A	11.311	0.001
3B	35.726	< 0.001



Figure 11. Means and standard errors of travel times for each release group during early and late releases. All values were calculated from mobile detections.

Spatial analyses

The six sub-reaches exhibited a trend of decreasing gradient from upstream to downstream (Table 12). Channel width was greatest in Sub-reach 1A with the remaining 5 sub-reaches having similar values. Alcove habitat area was greatest in Sub-reach 1A, but was also high in Sub-reach 2a. The most upstream and most downstream sub-reaches had the greatest number of diversions and the greatest percentage of deep pool habitat. The number of drain returns and bridges in each sub-reach was low and variable (Table 12).

Four locations were identified where observed mortality was significantly more clumped than an equal number of randomly distributed points. These four locations were immediately downstream of the release sites in reaches 2 and 3 (Figure 12). No significant clumping of mortalities was observed in Reach 1. The hot spot analysis yielded a single significant clumping of observed mortalities in Sub-reach 2b (Figure 13).



Figure 12. Results of the spatial auto correlation analysis (global Moran's I). Red circles represent locations with significant clumping of last known detections. Green bars are locations where tagged fish were released.



Figure 13. Map of last known detections for fish that never exited the study reach. The orange squares are areas with significant clumping of last known detections.



Figure 14. Relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last known detections in Reach 1. The dashed line is the modeled relationship and the solid line is the 1:1 relationship.

Analysis of covariance in Reach 1 indicated that there was a significant relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last-detection locations (F = 14650, p < 0.001) and the interaction between the modeled relationship and a 1:1 relationship was not significant (F = 0.53, p < 0.469). However, the variable differentiating the study reach from the 1:1 line was not significant indicating that last-detection locations were not deeper or shallower than expected (Figure 14). In Reach 2, ANCOVA indicated there was a significant relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last-detection sites. However, there was a significant interaction between the relationship in the study reach and the 1:1 line (F = 15.438, p < 0.001). Thus, the last-detection locations in Reach 2 could be shallower or deeper than expected by chance depending on the expected elevation value. Examination of the plot of the modeled relationship and the 1:1 line indicated that bed elevations at observed last-detection locations were lower than expected at lower bed elevations and more similar to expected at greater bed elevations (Figure 15). In Reach 3, there was a significant relationship between observed and expected bed elevation at the site of last-detections (F = 19602, p < 0.001) and the interaction between the observed relationship and the 1:1 line was not significant (F = 2.772, p = 0.100). The reduced model revealed that the modeled relationship had a significantly lower intercept than the 1:1 line indicating that bed elevations at the site of last-detections were significantly lower than expected (i.e. deeper; Figure 16).

Table 12. Physical description of study sub-reaches, including structures (diversions, returns and bridges) and channel geometry.

		Diversions and returns Channel dime					mensions	iensions		
Sub- reach	Sub- reach location (rkm)	Number of diversions ¹	Total intake size (pipe diameter in cm)	Number of return pipes	Number of bridges	Percent gradient	Average channel width (m)	Total deep pool area (m ²)	Percent deep pool area	Alcove habitat area (m ²)
	62.5-									
1a	54.9	6	52	0	0	0.051%	36.1	53,900	18.69%	70,649
	54.8-									
1b	47.8	0	0	3	2	0.040%	23.4	15,073	8.05%	814
	47.7-									
2a	40.2	1	4	0	2	0.040%	22.1	16,372	9.17%	10,806
	40.1-									
2b	33.0	3	34	0	0	0.026%	20.3	5,384	3.27%	1,637
	32.9-									
3a	27.4	3	35	2	1	0.037%	23.9	12,924	5.57%	5,817
	27.3-									
3b	14.8	7	60	3	0	0.031%	21.4	31,073	14.96%	4,438

Cramer Fish Sciences 41



Figure 15. Relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last known detections in Reach 2. The dashed line is the modeled relationship and the solid line is the 1:1 relationship.



Figure 16. Relationship between expected and observed bed elevations at last known detections in Reach 3. The dashed line is the modeled relationship and the solid line is the 1:1 relationship.

The hot spot analysis of artificial structures in the study reach revealed a single significant clumping at the bottom of Reach 3 (Figure 17). This location was not associated with any of the significant clumping of last known tag detections.



Figure 17. Map indicating the locations of three artificial structure types in the 50 km study reach and significant clumping of both artificial structures and last known tag detections.

Tag Retention and Survival

In 2013, three experimental fish were lost from Group 1 when tag antennas were entrained by the impeller of a bilge pump used to circulate and maintain water quality during transport. This resulted in two mortalities and a shed tag. Two additional shed tags were recovered within the first 48 hours after arrival at the aquaculture facility. This may have been related to the aforementioned stressors experienced during transport, though this could not be confirmed because the fish that shed their tags survived and could not be recaptured without introducing an additional stressor to the other experimental fish. Of the remaining 15 fish from Group 1, 100% survived and retained their tags for the duration of the entire study (i.e., 50 d). For Group 2, all tagged fish survived and retained their tags for the duration of the monitoring period (i.e., 21 d). All control fish from both groups survived the duration of the study.

In 2014, all fish from Group 1 and Group 2 survived transport. Within 48 hours of arrival, there were two mortalities from the experimental fish of Group 1. Both individuals showed signs of stress upon arrival suggesting potential surgery-related impacts. Overall, experimental fish from Group 1 showed 90% survival and 100% tag retention and experimental fish from Group 2 showed 100% survival and tag retention for the duration of the study (14 days). All of the

surgery- and non-surgery control fish survived through the duration of the experiment.

Behavioral Tag Effects

In 2013, position in the water column was significantly different for control and treatment fish $(\chi^2 = 9.282; df = 3; p = 0.0258;$ Figure 18). In general, control fish highly favored the bottom of the tank, holding there roughly half of the time. Tagged fish tended to orient in the middle of the water column, with a smaller proportion of fish on the bottom. Few tagged or control fish were seen at the surface. There was a significant difference in body orientation between control and tagged fish ($\chi^2 = 64.268; df = 2; p < 0.0001;$ Figure 17). Control fish exhibited a horizontal body position roughly 85% of the time while tagged fish were seen in a pitched body position with the head up and tail down over half the time (Figure 18).



Figure 18. Observations of tagged and control fish in the water column in 2013 (left) and 2014 (right).

In 2014, position in the water column was significantly different for control and treatment groups over the two-week monitoring period (χ^2 = 47.808, *df*=6, p<0.0001; Figure 18). Tagged fish spent most of their time in the middle and lower portions of the water column, with no individuals on the very bottom. Control fish were evenly distributed among the bottom, lower, and middle portions of the water column. There was also a significant difference in the body orientation of control and tagged fish (χ^2 = 23.867, *df* =4, *p*<0.0001; Figure 19). Tagged fish oriented horizontally and with a pitched position (head up and tail dropped) in roughly equal proportion (Figure 20). Control fish oriented roughly 90% of the time with a horizontal body position.



Figure 19. The total number of observations of body position (pitch) for control and tagged fish for 2013 (left) and 2014 (right).



Figure 20. Tagged fish (within black circle) displaying "head up, tail down" body orientation.

Tag Effects on Growth and Post-Recovery Condition

In 2013 only, final fork length and weight were measured and post-recovery health was assessed in tagged and control fish.

Prior to the study, the population of tagged fish and the entire study population showed no significant difference in their size distribution (D=0.149, p=0.4079). Because of this, we assumed the tagged fish were representative of the population of tagged fish used in our field study. We also assumed control fish conformed to the same distribution because they were also randomly selected as a subset of the field study population.

After the study, the tagged and control fish showed no significant difference in fork length (D = 0.171, p = 0.4903; Figure 21). The relationship between fork length and weight, which is considered a metric of body condition, was also similar for control and treatment fish (Figure 22).



Figure 21. Fork length (left) and weight (right) in the tagged and control groups at the end of the 2013 study.



Figure 22. Fork length-to-weight relationship for tagged (blue X) and control (gray circle) fish.

There was no significant difference in the post-recovery condition (eyes, fins, and scales) of control and tagged fish for 2013 (all p>0.05).

DISCUSSION

The data provided from three years of radio tagged juvenile Chinook salmon releases in the LSR indicated that there was sufficient evidence to reject the first null hypothesis that the survival of Chinook salmon juveniles does not differ among sub-reaches of the LSR. Estimation of survival using both the mobile and stationary detections indicated there were significant differences in survival between different LSR segments and for fish released in different sub-reaches. However, these differences were not consistent in space and time. At the sub-reach level, the best model of survival calculated with mobile detections for each release included a grouping variable for release site (sub-reach). Yet, the pattern of occurrence of the best and worst survival occurred was variable among releases and years. Fish released into Sub-reach 2b often experienced poor survival rates and the hot spot analysis identified areas in Sub-reach 2b as having significantly more last known detections than any other sub-reach. This suggests that Sub-reach 2b has particularly poor conditions for juvenile salmon survival. Analysis of the stationary detections indicated that including a variable for sub-reach (≈ 8 km) where fish were released was only supported for releases in Reach 3 (3a, 3b). However, there were significant differences in survival at the 16 km reach level (Reach 1, 2, 3). Reach 1 tended to have greater survival than the other two reaches; however, 95% confidence intervals often overlapped.

Estimates in reaches 2 and 3 tended to be similar and confidence intervals almost always overlapped.

There was no conclusive evidence to reject or accept the second hypothesis that survival is constant throughout the migration period. The survival models calculated from stationary detections did not provide support for a significant effect of release timing (i.e., early vs. late in the migration period) on survival. However, daily survival rates calculated from the mobile detections for early and late periods had non-overlapping confidence intervals for some release groups. In general, fish released in sub-reaches located farther downstream had greater probabilities of transitioning out of the study reach. However, these probabilities changed considerably among early and late releases across years. The timing of the release appeared to have less effect on transition probabilities than the flow conditions experienced. During the higher flow release in each year, tagged fish tended to be more likely to transition out of the study reach and also to transition at an earlier date following release. The structure of the data prevented a direct test of this relationship but it appears flow may act as a cue for fish to begin migrating toward the ocean. Flow is a well-known cue used by fishes to initiate migration behavior (Poff et al. 1997; Bunn and Arthington 2002) yet individuals must also be physiologically ready to migrate. During early releases, some fish may not have been ready to initiate migration regardless of flow conditions.

There was sufficient evidence to reject the third null hypothesis, that the spatial distribution of last known detections is random throughout the study reach. A test for clumping relative to random point distributions yielded five significant points of high mortality in the study reach. All five of these points were located immediately downstream of the release sites in reaches 2 and 3. Initially, this would appear to be a release effect; however, there was no significant clumping of points at the two release sites in Reach 1. This may suggest that if a sub-reach is poor quality habitat (e.g. high predator abundance, poor abiotic conditions) mortality occurs relatively quickly after release. This hypothesis is supported by the mobile survival models that indicated most of the mortality occurred in the first few days following the release. A significant clumping of observed points was also detected in Sub-reach 2b using hot spot analysis. As described above, survival in this reach was consistently low in most years and releases. Multiple lines of evidence have identified Sub-reach 2b as low-survival habitat for juvenile Chinook salmon survival and restoration efforts may be beneficial in this reach of the LSR.

The fourth hypothesis, that survival estimates are not related to migration speed of juvenile Chinook salmon could not be rejected based on the evidence provided by the tagging data. The regression of survival on travel time was not significant when using the stationary or mobile detection data sets. However, the difference between estimates of travel time using mobile vs. stationary detections yielded insights into the behavior of tagged fish within the study reach. Calculation of travel time using mobile detection data yielded much lower estimates than calculations using stationary data. It was clear from the detection histories that during certain releases, fish held in the study reach prior to initiating migration or held until tag life expired. The lack of significant movement for some fish was reflected in the low estimates of travel time from mobile detections. Even the highest estimates of travel time from mobile detections were relatively low. This may have occurred because fish that move quickly can leave the study reach between mobile survey intervals. The stationary receivers can detect fish 24 hours a day allowing even the fastest-moving fish to be detected leaving the study reach. Thus, estimates from stationary receivers represent travel times of tagged fish that are actively migrating whereas estimates from mobile detections are more representative of tagged fish that hold for various lengths of time before initiating migration out of the study reach. The estimates of travel time from stationary detections were similar to estimates for Chinook salmon in the Sacramento River (Michel *et al.* 2013) suggesting our estimates for actively migrating fish were accurate.

There was mixed evidence to evaluate the fifth null hypothesis, that survival is not associated with identified biotic or abiotic characteristics. None of the models that included biotic or abiotic predictors were selected as the best explanation of survival in reaches 1 and 2. In Reach 3 the full model was selected as the best yet only the variable for "sub-reach" was a significant predictor of survival. Other predictors were significantly related to the combined survival and detection probabilities. Since there were few significant relationships with survival it is likely that it was detection probabilities that were influenced by environmental conditions. Flow in particular was observed to have an effect on detection probabilities during releases in 2013 and 2014 and radio signals attenuate quickly with water depth. Temperatures were within or slightly above the optimal range for Chinook salmon during all releases and never reached lethal or sublethal levels during the study (Piper et al. 1982). Thus, it is not surprising that temperature had low predictive power. Fish size has been shown to have a significant effect on survival in previous studies of juvenile Chinook salmon survival (Zabel and Achord 2004; Zeug and Cavallo 2013) but there was no evidence for an effect here. The effect of fish size is usually attributed to gape limitation of predators (Sogard 1997). The range of fish sizes released was limited due to tag burden restrictions and there may not have been enough variation to detect a difference. The lack of a strong flow-survival relationship was surprising because a recent analysis of 14 years of rotary screw trap data in this reach found a significant positive relationship between cumulative discharge and survival (Zeug et al. 2014).

A partial explanation for the lack of a flow effect is the use of hatchery fish as a surrogate for wild fish in the current study. Wild juvenile Chinook salmon in the Central Valley display multiple life history types (Miller *et al.* 2010). They may migrate from natal habitats as fry or parr early in the year (peak in February) in response to flow pulses and rear downstream in the tidal delta before entering the ocean or they may rear in the river until they transform into smolts and then initiate migration between March and June. The hatchery fish used in this study only represent the smolt life history and thus the importance of flow to the entire population may be underestimated. Additionally, hatchery fish have been shown to express different behaviors than natural origin fish (Jonsson 1997). Other studies utilizing hatchery origin fish in the Central Valley have yielded mixed results with several finding a positive flow effect (Kjelson and Brandes 1989; Newman 2003; Perry 2010) and others failing to find an effect (Newman and Rice 2002; Newman 2008; Michel 2010; Zeug and Cavallo 2013). As a domesticated stock, hatchery fish may have attenuated responses to environmental cues that could obscure a flow effect.

The spatial analysis of last known detections suggested that there may be habitat characteristics that affected survival but were not easily quantified in the current study. Sub-reach 2b was identified in the hot spot analysis of last known detections and fish released in this reach often experienced poor survival. This suggests that Sub-reach 2b contains habitat features that increase mortality (e.g. predator holding areas, lack of shallow shoal areas) or poor abiotic conditions that were not quantified here and may be discrete events that are not easily captured

without continuous monitoring (e.g. periodic low dissolved oxygen events). Survival was not always poor in this reach and although there is habitat for predators, there may be variation in the frequency and abundance of predators in that habitat; in particular, migratory species such as striped bass that move into freshwater rivers to spawn as juvenile Chinook salmon are moving toward the ocean. Observed locations of last known detections in Reach 3 were significantly deeper than expected. Deep habitats in lotic systems have been shown to be preferred by predatory fishes (Gelwick *et al.* 1997). This suggests that there is an abundance of habitat that is favorable for predators of juvenile Chinook salmon in Reach 3. Additionally, the location of last known detection may not correspond to the exact location where mortality occurred because mobile surveys only occur at discrete intervals. Multidimensional tracking would be required to effectively estimate mortality locations at a finer scale.

The use of both mobile and stationary detections in this study revealed several biases that occur in telemetry studies but are not often quantified. These biases need to be considered carefully when interpreting estimates of survival and travel time and assessing what they mean to the wild Chinook salmon population in the Stanislaus River. First, it was clear during certain releases that significant numbers of tagged fish held in the study reach and some did not initiate migration before tag life expired. These individuals appear as mortalities when estimating survival using stationary receiver detections and Cormack Jolly-Seber statistical models. Thus, although the survival estimates from stationary receiver detections are statistically precise, they are unlikely to be accurate because they would underestimate the true survival values. Holding behavior also influenced travel time estimates with significant differences between estimates produced using stationary and mobile detections. Travel time estimated from stationary detections are accurate and precise but are representative only of actively migrating fish. Travel times calculated with mobile data are likely biased toward fish that hold in the study reach. Fish that move quickly out of the study reach are likely to be missed by mobile surveys that only occur every few days. Additionally, Chinook salmon juveniles tend to migrate between dusk and dawn and even mobile surveys on consecutive days would be likely to miss many fish (Michel et al. 2013).

The laboratory tag effects study found that tag retention was nearly 100% suggesting that it would be unlikely that fish would be incorrectly categorized as mortalities due to tag loss. Additionally, survival and growth was not significantly different between experimental and control fish, indicating the presence of an implanted tag did not directly affect survival. However, there were significant differences in the position of fish in the water column in some treatments and significant differences in body orientation for all experimental groups. It is unknown how these differences may influence survival; however, Adams *et al.* (1998) reported that juvenile Chinook salmon that had radio tags surgically implanted were significantly more susceptible to predation relative to untagged controls. The changes in water column position and body orientation observed here may be linked to predation susceptibility although we did not directly link these in our study. Regardless, previous work on mortality of tagged fish suggests that survival may generally be underestimated in these telemetry studies due to tag effects; however, the estimates were precise and comparisons of survival among treatments and modeling of environmental effects is appropriate.

The use of hatchery fish as surrogates for the wild population and the use of different hatchery stocks (Merced River vs. Mokelumne River) is also an important consideration. In a review of relative fitness of hatchery and natural salmon, Berejikian and Ford (2006) found that the relative

fitness of hatchery fish was reduced under many scenarios. It is unknown to what extent behavioral differences may occur in the hatchery stocks used here. This suggests that caution should be used when interpreting the magnitude of survival for hatchery fish in relation to the wild population. In the first two years of the study, fish from the Merced River hatchery were used whereas in the final year, fish from the Mokelumne River hatchery were used. Survival estimates from mobile detections were higher in the final year than the first two years but how much of this effect can be attributed to the stock used is unknown.

Despite the limitations inherent in the use of telemetry, we found strong evidence that survival is not homogeneous through the study reach. The \approx 8km Sub-reach 2b was found to have especially poor survival and restoration activities in this reach have the potential to benefit migration conditions for juvenile Chinook salmon. Additionally, spatial analyses of last known detections suggest that mortality occurs in habitats that are significantly deeper than expected in Reach 3 and the lower portions of Reach 2. There was little evidence that survival was significantly different between early and late releases; however, during some releases tagged fish held in the river until tag life expired. This suggests that some fish were not physiologically ready to outmigrate; yet the survival analysis using mobile detections indicated survival was not significantly different for these releases. Flow did not have a significant effect on survival; however, because some fish exhibited holding behavior, the stationary detection models were biased toward actively migrating fish. The mobile detection models suggested that there was a greater probability of fish transitioning out of the study reach when discharge was higher, which is supported by previous studies in this reach (Zeug et al. 2014). Future studies in the LSR would benefit by focusing on reaches identified in this study to contain a significant clumping of last known detections. Experimental manipulation of environmental drivers and habitat structure would be particularly useful because noise in the data resulting from behavioral differences between hatchery and natural fish and the difficulty in identifying exact locations of mortality in larger study reaches.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to the USFWS AFRP for funding this project (grant #81332BG003). We extend special thanks to landowners Joey Adrian, George and Elizabeth teVelde, Paul Van Konynenburg, and Larry and Leslie Muir who graciously provided us access to the river to set up fixed receiver stations on their properties. We also like to thank the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, especially the Merced River and Mokelumne River Hatcheries, for providing and delivering the juvenile Chinook salmon used in this study. Thanks to John Hannon (and BOR) and the USFWS Idaho staff for loaning and contributing to the purchase of radio receivers. We thank the East Bay Municipal District for the use of a Lotek receiver and drift boat and Mark Gard (USFWS) for bed elevation survey points. Thanks also to Sue Sogard and Erick Sturm (NOAA) and their lab for assistance in the tag life/retention study and early discussions with Sean Hayes (NOAA) on study design. Thanks to Katie McElroy for assistance with laboratory studies. Thanks to Rebecca Buchanan (University of Washington) for help with statistical analyses.

In addition, we thank the numerous agency personnel, private entities, and Cramer Fish Sciences staff that assisted with radio telemetry tagging and mobile tracking. These include J.D. Wikert, Beth Campbell, Kevin Fisher, Kathleen Berridge, Emma Davidson, Amy Dirksen, Aimee Taylor, Kes Benn, Stephen Szabo, Sean Studer, Marielle Medina, Megan Sheely, Megan Sabal (NOAA; UCSC), Domenic Guidice (CDFW), Sierra Franks (NOAA), Clark Watry, Jesse Anderson, Bill Beckett, Jeff Bradstreet, Kyle Horvath, Katrina Martens, Karin Dove, Jamie Sweeney, Chris Pocoroba, Garrett Arauz, Jillian Slingsby, Paul Haverkamp, Annie Brodsky.

Project was funded through USFWS grant #81332BG003.

REFERENCES CITED

- Aceituno, M.E. 1990. Habitat preference criteria for fall-run Chinook salmon holding, spawning, and rearing in the Stanislaus River, California. USFWS Report, Sacramento Field Office, Sacramento, CA.
- Adams, N.S., D.W. Rondorf, S.D. Evans, and J.E. Kelly. 1998. Effects of surgically and gastrically implanted radio transmitters on growth and feeding behavior of juvenile Chinook salmon. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 127:128–136.
- Anderson, J.T., C.B. Watry and A. Gray. 2007. Upstream fish passage at a resistance board weir using infrared and digital technology in the lower Stanislaus River, California. Cramer Fish Sciences, Oakdale, CA.
- Augerot, X., D.N. Foley, C. Steinback, A. Fuller, N. Fobes, and K. Spencer. 2005. Atlas of Pacific Salmon: the first map-based status assessment of salmon in the North Pacific. University of California Press. Los Angeles. 161 pp

- Bartley, R., and I. Rutherfurd. 2002. Techniques to quantify the variability of thalweg profiles. International Association of Hydrological Sciences 276: 35-44.
- Bauer, C., Unfer, G., & Loupal, G. (2005). Potential problems with external trailing antennae: antenna migration and ingrowth of epithelial tissue, a case study from a recaptured *Chondrostoma nasus. Journal of Fish Biology*, *67*(3), 885-889.
- Berejikian, B.A. and M.J. Ford. 2006 Review of relative fitness of hatchery and natural salmon. U.S. Dept. Commer.,NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NWFSC-61, 28pp.
- Brandes, P.L., and J.S. McLain. 2001. Juvenile Chinook Salmon Abundance, Distribution, and Survival in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Estuary. California Department of Fish and Game Fish Bulletin, Vol. 179, Page(s): 39-136.
- Brown, R.S., D.R. Geist, K.A. Deters, and A. Grassell. (2006). Effects of surgically implanted acoustic transmitters >2% of body mass on the swimming performance, survival, and growth of juvenile sockeye and Chinook salmon. *Journal of Fish Biology*, *69*, 1626–1638.
- Brown, R. S., Harnish, R. A., Carter, K. M., Boyd, J. W., Deters, K. A., & Eppard, M. B. (2010). An evaluation of the maximum tag burden for implantation of acoustic transmitters in juvenile Chinook salmon. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 30(2), 499-505.
- Brown, L. R. & P. B. Moyle. 1991. Changes in habitat and microhabitat partitioning within an assemblage of stream fishes in response to predation by Sacramento squawfish (Ptychocheilus grandis). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 48: 849–856.
- Brown, L. R., & Bauer, M. L. (2010). Effects of hydrologic infrastructure on flow regimes of California's Central Valley rivers: implications for fish populations. River research and applications, 26(6), 751-765.
- Brown, R.S., S.J. Cooke, W.G. Anderson and R.S. McKinley. 1999. Evidence to challenge the 2% rule for biotelemetry. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 19:867–871.
- Bunn, S.E. and A.H. Arthington. 2002. Basic Principles and ecological consequences of altered flow regimes for aquatic biodiversity. Environmental Management 4:492-507.
- Burnham, K.P. and D.R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multimodel inference; a practical information-theoretic approach, 2nd edn. New York, NY: Springer, 488pp.
- Cavallo, B, J. Merz, and J. Setka. 2012. Effects of predator and flow manipulation on Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) survival in an imperiled estuary. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*.
- Clark, W. B. (1970). Gold districts of California (Vol. 193). Sacramento, CA: California Division of Mines and Geology.

- Cooke, S. J. (2008). Biotelemetry and biologging in endangered species research and animal conservation: relevance to regional, national, and IUCN Red List threat assessments. *Endangered species research*, *4*(1-2), 165-185.
- Cooke, S. J., Woodley, C. M., Eppard, M. B., Brown, R. S., & Nielsen, J. L. (2011). Advancing the surgical implantation of electronic tags in fish: a gap analysis and research agenda based on a review of trends in intracoelomic tagging effects studies. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries*, 21(1), 127-151.
- Demko, D.B., C. Gemperle, S.P. Cramer, and A. Phillips. 1998. Evaluation of Juvenile Chinook Behavior, Migration Rate and Location of Mortality in the Stanislaus River Through the Use of Radio Tracking. Cramer Fish Sciences, Oakdale, CA.
- Downs, P. W., Singer, M. S., Orr, B. K., Diggory, Z. E., & Church, T. C. 2011. Restoring ecological integrity in highly regulated rivers: the role of baseline data and analytical references. Environmental management, 48(4), 847-864.
- Ensminger, M.P., R. Budd, K.C. Kelley, and K.S. Goh. 2013. Pesticide occurrence and aquatic benchmark exceedances in urban surface waters and sediments in three urban areas of California, USA, 2008–2011. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 185(5): 3697-3710.
- Gelwick, F.P., M.S. Stock, and W.J. Matthews. 1997. Effects of Fish, Water Depth, and Predation Risk on Patch Dynamics in a North-Temperate River Ecosystem. Oikos 80(2): 382-398.
- Harvey, B. C., R.J. Nakamoto, and J.L. White. 1999. Influence of large woody debris and a bankfull flood on movement of adult resident coastal cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarki) during fall and winter. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 56(11):2161-2166.
- Hogen, D.M. and D. L. Scarnecchia. 2006. Distinct fluvial and adfluvial migration patterns of a relict charr, Salvelinus confluentus, stock in a mountainous watershed, Idaho, USA. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 15: 176–187.
- Jager, H. I., and Rose, K. A. 2003. Designing optimal flow patterns for fall Chinook salmon in a central valley, California, river. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 23(1), 1-21.
- Jeffres, C.A., Opperman, J.J., and Moyle, P.B. 2008. Ephemeral floodplain habitats provide best growth conditions for juvenile Chinook salmon in a California river. Environ. Biol. Fish. 83: 449-458.
- Jonsson, B. 1997. A review of ecological and behavioral interactions between cultured and wild Atlantic salmon. ICES Journal of Marine Science 54:1031-1039.
- Kjelson, M.A. and P.L. Brandes. 1989. The use of smolt survival estimates to quantify the effects of habitat changes on salmonid stocks in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Rivers, California, p.100-115. *In* C.D. Levings, L.B. Holtby, and M.A. Henderson [eds.] Proceedings of the

National Workshop on Effects of Habitat Alteration on Salmonid Stocks. Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 105.

- Kondolf, G.M. 1997. Hungry water: effects of dams and gravel mining on river channels. Environmental Management 21: 533-51
- Kondolf GM, Batalla RJ. 2005. Hydrological effects of dams and water diversions on rivers of Mediterranean-climate regions: Examples from California. In: Garcia, C. and Batalla, R.J., eds. Catchment Dynamics and River Processes: Mediterranean and Other Climate Regions. Elsevier, London. pp. 197-211.
- Kondolf. G. M., A. Falzone, and K. S. Schneider. 2001. Reconnaissance –level assessment of channel change and spawning habitat on the Stanislaus River below Goodwin Dam. Report to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Sacramento, CA. Fish Bulletin 87:219-264.
- Kynard, B., and J.P. Warner. 1987. Spring and summer movements of sub-adult striped bass, Morone saxatilis, in the Connecticut River. U.S. National Fisheries Service Fishery Bulletin 85:143-147.
- Lindley S and M. Mohr. 2003. Modeling the effect of striped bass on the population viability of Sacramento River winter-run Chinook salmon. Fishery Bulletin: 321–331.
- Lisle, T.E. 1987. Using residual depths to monitor pool depths independently from discharge. USDA Forest Service Research Note PSW-394, Pacific Southwest Research Station: Albany, CA.
- Lisle, T.E. 1995. Particle size variations between bed load and bed material in natural gravel bed channels. Journal of Water Resources Research 31(4):1107-1118.
- Marine, K. R., and Cech Jr, J. J. 2004. Effects of high water temperature on growth, smoltification, and predator avoidance in juvenile Sacramento River Chinook salmon. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 24(1): 198-210.
- Mason, H. W. 1882. Report of operations on the Navesink River, New Jersey, in 1879, in collecting living striped bass for transportation to California. Report, U. S. Commissioner of Fisheries, for 1879, pp. 663–666.
- Michel, C.J. 2010. River and estuarine survival and migration of yearling Sacramento River Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) smolts and the influence of environment. Master's Thesis, University of California Santa Cruz.
- Michel, C.J., A.J. Ammann, E.D. Chapman, P.T. Sandstrom, H.E. Fish, M.J. Thomas, G.P. Singer, S.T. Lindley, A.P. Klimley and R.B. MacFarlane. 2013. The effects of environmental factors on the migratory movement patterns of Sacramento River yearling late-fall run Chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Environmental Biology of Fishes 96:257-271.
- Miller, J.A., A. Gray and J. Merz. 2010. Quantifying the contribution of juvenile migratory phenotypes in a population of Chinook salmon *Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 408:227-240.

- Moyle, P.B., J.A. Israel and S.E. Purdy. 2008. Salmon, steelhead and trout in California-Status of an emblematic fauna. Center for Watershed Science, University of California-Davis, Davis, CA.
- Moyle, P.B., Katz, J.V., and R.M. Quiñones. 2011. Rapid decline of California's native inland fishes: a status assessment. Biological Conservation 144(10): 2414-2423.
- Myrick, C. A. and J.J. Cech Jr. 2004. Temperature effects on juvenile anadromous salmonids in California's central valley: what don't we know? Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries 14(1): 113-123.
- National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 2004. Endangered and Threatened Species; Establishment of Species of Concern List, Addition of Species to Species of Concern List, Description of Factors for Identifying Species of Concern, and Revision of Candidate Species List Under the Endangered Species Act. Federal Register 69(73): 19975-19979.
- National Marine Fisheries Service(NMFS).2014. Recovery Plan for the Evolutionarily Significant Units of Sacramento River Winter-run Chinook Salmon and Central Valley Spring-run Chinook Salmon and the Distinct Population Segment of California Central Valley Steelhead. California Central Valley Area Office. July 2014.
- Nehlsen, W., J. Williams and J. Lichatowich. 1991. Pacific salmon at the crossroads: Stocks at risk from California, Oregon, Idaho and Washington. Fisheries 16:4-21.
- Newman, K. 2003. Modelling paired release-recovery data in the presence of survival and capture heterogeneity with application to marked juvenile salmon. Statistical modeling 3:157-177.
- Newman, K.B. 2008. An evaluation of four Sacramento-San Joaquin river Delta juvenile salmon survival studies. Stockton, CA: United States Fish and Wildlife Service. 182 pp.
- Newman, K.B. and J. Rice. 2002. Modeling the survival of Chinook salmon outmigrating through the lower Sacramento River system. Journal of the American Statistical Association 97:983-993.
- Nilsson C., Reidy CA, Dynesius M, Revenga C. 2005. Fragmentation and flow regulation of the world's large river systems. Science 308: 405–408.
- Nobriga M. and F. Feyrer. 2007. Shallow-water piscivore-prey dynamics in California's Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta. San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science 5(2). http://escholarship.org/uc/item/387603c0.
- Parks 1978. The Pacific Northwest Commercial Fishery for Striped Bass. Marine Fisheries Review 40(1) No. 1279: 18-20.
- Perry, R.W. 2010. Survival and migration dynamics of juvenile Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) in the Sacramento-San Joaquin River Delta. Doctoral dissertation, University of Washington.

- Perry, R.W., P.L. Brandes, P.T. Sandstrom, A. Ammann, B. MacFarlane, A.P. Klimley, and J.R. Skalski. 2010. Estimating Survival and Migration Route Probabilities of Juvenile Chinook Salmon in the Sacramento–San Joaquin River Delta. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 10:142-152.
- Piper, R.G., I.B. McElwain, L.E. Orme, J.P. McCraren, L.G. Fowler and J.R. Leonard. 1982. Fish Hatchery Management. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington D.C.
- Poff, N. L., Allan, J. D., Bain, M. B., Karr, J. R., Prestegaard, K. L., Richter, B. D., Sparks, R.E., and J.C. Stromberg. 1997. The natural flow regime. BioScience: 769-784.
- Power, M.E., W.J. Matthews, and A.J. Steward. 1985. Grazing Minnows, Piscivorous Bass, and Stream Algae: Dynamics of a Strong Interaction. Ecology 66(5): 1448-1456.
- R Core Team. 2014. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna Austria. http://www.R-project.org
- Ross, M.J. and C.F. Kleiner. 1982. Shielded-needle technique for surgically implanting radiofrequency transmitters in fish. Progressive Fish-Culturist 44: 41–41.
- Sabal, M., Hayes, S., Merz, J. and Setka, J., 2016. Habitat Alterations and a Nonnative Predator, the Striped Bass, Increase Native Chinook Salmon Mortality in the Central Valley, California. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 36(2):309-320.
- Sandstrom, P. T., Ammann, A. J., Michel, C., Singer, G., Chapman, E. D., Lindley, S., ... & Klimley, A. P. (2013). Growth, survival, and tag retention of steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and its application to survival estimates. *Environmental Biology* of Fishes, 96(2-3):145-164.
- Sogard, S.M. 1997. Size-selective mortality in the juvenile stage of teleost fishes: a review. Bulletin of Marine Science 60:1129-1157.
- Sommer, T.R., M.L. Nobriga, W.C. Harrell, W. Batham, and W.J. Kimmerer. 2001. Floodplain rearing of juvenile Chinook salmon: evidence of enhanced growth and survival. Can. J. of Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58: 325–333.
- Steel, E.A., P. Guttorp, J.J. Anderson and D.C. Caccia. 2001. Modeling juvenile salmon migration using a simple Markov chain. Journal of agricultural, biological and environmental statistics (6)1:80-88.
- Unwin, M.J. 1997. Fry-to-adult survival of natural and hatchery produced chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) from a common origin. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. **54**: 1246–1254.
- Unwin, M.J. and G.J. Glova. 1997). Changes in life history parameters in a naturally spawning population of chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) associated with releases of hatchery-reared fish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 54(6): 1235-1245.

- Watry, C. B. and D. L. Scarnecchia. 2008. Adfluvial and fluvial life history variations and migratory patterns of a relict charr, Salvelinus confluentus, stock in west-central Idaho, USA. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 17: 211-241.
- Weston, D. P., You, J., & Lydy, M. J. 2004. Distribution and toxicity of sediment-associated pesticides in agriculture-dominated water bodies of California's Central Valley. Environmental science & technology 38(10): 2752-2759.
- Williams, J.G. 2006. Central Valley salmon: a perspective on Chinook and steelhead in the Central Valley of California. San Francisco Estuary and Watershed Science 4:1-416.
- Yoshiyama, R. M., F. W. Fisher, and P. B. Moyle. 1998. Historical Abundance and Decline of Chinook Salmon in the Central Valley Region of California. North American Journal of Fisheries Management 18: 487-521.
- Yoshiyama, R.M., E.R. Gerstung, F.W. Fisher and P.B. Moyle. 2001. Historical and present distribution of Chinook salmon in the Central Valley of California. California Department of Fish and Game Bulletin 179:71-176.
- Zabel, R.W. and S. Achord. 2004. Relating size of juveniles to survival within and among populations of Chinook salmon. Ecology 85:795-806.
- Zeug, S.C. and B.J. Cavallo. 2013. Influence of estuary conditions on the recovery rate of codedwire-tagged Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) in an ocean fishery. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 22:157-168.
- Zeug, S. C., Sellheim, K., Watry, C., Wikert, J. D., and J. Merz. 2014. Response of juvenile Chinook salmon to managed flow: lessons learned from a population at the southern extent of their range in North America. Fisheries Management and Ecology 21(2): 155-168.
- Zhang, X., Zhang, M. and X. Liu. 2008. Identification of hotspots for potential pyrethroid runoff: a GIS modeling study in San Joaquin River Watershed of California, USA. Environmental geology 55(6): 1195-1206.